UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

SEASONSAL PREVALENCE AND ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE OF ESCHERICHIA COLI AND SALMONELLA ENTERICA ISOLATED FROM **RAW MEATS IN BUIPE, GHANA**



DIMONGSO OSMAN

C UNIVERSIT

PA C

STUDIES

A NA A

UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND CONSUMER SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF ANIMAL SCIENCE

SEASONSAL PREVALENCE AND ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE OF ESCHERICHIA COLI AND SALMONELLA ENTERICA ISOLATED FROM RAW MEATS IN BUIPE, GHANA

BY

DIMONGSO OSMAN (B.Sc. Agriculture Technology) (UDS/MAN/0002/21)

THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF ANIMAL SCIENCE, FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND CONSUMER SCIENCES, UNIVERSITY FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES, IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY IN ANIMAL SCIENCE

MARCH, 2024



DECLARATION

Student

I hereby declare that this thesis is the result of my own original work and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this University or elsewhere.

...Date......28/03/2024...... Candidate's Signature.

Name: Mr. Dimongso Osman

Supervisor

I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of the thesis was supervised in accordance with the guidelines on supervision of thesis laid down by the University for Development Studies.

Principal Supervisor's Signature

.....Date...05/04/2024

Prof. Frederick Adzitey (PhD)

(UDS, Ghana)



ABSTRACT

Meat is an important source of proteins and other nutrients for humans and its contamination with bacteria poses a threat to public health. The study was carried out to determine the seasonal prevalence and antibiotic resistance of *Escherichia coli* (E. coli) and salmonella enterica isolated from raw meats. A total of 180 samples, 30 each of beef, chevon and mutton were randomly collected from Buipe in both the dry and rainy seasons. E. coli and Salmonella enterica were isolated using the USA-FDA bacteriological analytical manual and antibiotic susceptibility test was performed using the disk diffusion method. E. coli recorded a prevalence of 30.0% for beef, 53.3% for chevon and 63.3% for mutton collected during the dry season; it was 6.7%, 16.6% and 16.6% for beef, chevon and mutton, respectively collected during the rainy season. Overall, 48.9% versus 13.3% of meat samples collected during the dry and rainy season, respectively were contaminated with E. coli. Salmonella enterica recorded a prevalence of 3.3% for beef, 13.3% for chevon and 0.0% for mutton collected during the dry season. Salmonella enterica was not detected during the rainy season. Overall, 5.6% versus 0.0% of meat samples collected during the dry and rainy season, respectively were contaminated with Salmonella enterica. Antibiotic resistance was highest for Amoxicillin (61.5%) in E. coli isolated during the dry season. Susceptibility was high for Azithromycin (84.6%), Ceftriaxone (80.8%), Chloramphenicol (80.8%), Ciprofloxacin (84.6%), Gentamicin (80.8%) and Trimethoprim/Sulfamethoxazole (73.1%) in E. coli isolated during the rainy season.



Antibiotic resistance was also highest for Amoxicillin (91.0%). Susceptibility was high for Ceftriaxone (82.0%), Ciprofloxacin (82.0%) and Gentamicin (82.0%) in *E. coli* isolated during the rainy season. Multidrug resistance (MAR) index ranged from 0.2 to 0.8 and 13 different resistant profiles were observed for *E. coli* isolated during the dry season, while MAR index ranged from 0.2 to 0.7 and 10 different resistant profiles were observed for *E. coli* isolated during the dry season, while MAR index ranged from 0.2 to 0.7 and 10 different resistant profiles were observed for *E. coli* isolated during the rainy season. The *Salmonella enterica* exhibited 40.0% intermediate resistance and 60.0% susceptibility to ceftriaxone. They were 100% susceptible to the rest of the antibiotics examined. All meat samples were contaminated with *E. coli* which were resistant to various antibiotics. Some meat samples were contaminated with *Salmonella enterica* which were susceptible to most antibiotics. Further research in the molecular characterization of *E. coli* and *Salmonella enterica* to reveal their genetic diversity, antimicrobial resistance genes and virulence genes is recommended.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Firstly, my thanks and praises go to the Almighty Allah for giving me protection and guidance from the start to a successful finish and compilation of this project.

I am choice less with words of appreciation, and highly indebted to Professor Frederick Adzitey, my supervisor, who doubles as the Head of Department, Animal Science, Nyankpala Campus with all the support he gave me, without whom I would have gotten lessor or no success of this work.

I wish to also extend my appreciation to all the lecturers, especially Professor Ayum Gabriel Teye, the former Vice Chancelor, UDS, and staff of the Animal Science Department for their direction and guidance.

A special appreciation also goes to Dr. Francis Addy and Mr. Gideon Adu-Gyamfi who helped with the PCR analysis of my work.

I extend my regards to Mr. Abubakari Ziblila who is the Head of Veterinary at Central Gonja District, Bupe, Savannah Region, Ghana and all the veterinary staff especially Madam Nafisah Kabore and Mr. Abeeba Isaac at the Buipe slaughter slab as well as Mr. Laar Samson, the Environmental Health Officer at the Buipe slaughter slab who all supported me during samples collection at the slaughter slab. A special thanks also



go to the butchers at Buipe for their patience and cooperation during sample collection.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my wife, Nyankpani Rukaya and our children; Osman Badegamsera Ishmael, Osman Mamboriba Izzideen, Osman Wunsumah Ilhaam and Osman Kuluag Hibatu, who in diverse ways gave me family love at home during my academic and research period.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONi
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiv
DEDICATION
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER ONE
1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
1.2 Problem statement
1.3 Justification
1.4 Importance of this study4
1.5 Objectives of study4
CHAPTER TWO
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Meat
2.2 Classification of beats by habitat of animal



2.3 Home-grown meat types in Ghana
2.3.1 Beef
2.3.2 Chevon
2.3.3 Mutton
2.3.4 Chicken
2.3.5 Guinea fowl meat
2.3.6 Pork
2.4 Sources of contamination of raw meat10
2.5 Pathogenic bacteria found on raw meat11
2.6 Foodborne diseases and zoonoses12
2.7 Food safety and hygiene13
2.8 Foodborne diseases' effects on public health
2.9 Controlling the incidence of foodborne infections
2.10 Coliform and enterobacteriaceae17
2.11 Microbial contamination of meat18
2.12 Salmonella genus
2.12.1 Salmonella species grouping based on serotyping
2.12.2 Salnonella subspecies
2.12.3 Salmonella infections in human and animals
2.13 Escherichia coli
2.14 <i>E. coli</i> serotypes classifications
2.14.1 Diffusely adherent <i>Escherichia coli</i> (DAEC)
2.14.2 Enteroaggrasive Escherichia coli (EAEC)



2.14.3 Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC)	32
2.14.4 Enteroinvasive Escherichia coli (EIEC)	33
2.14.5 Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC)	33
2.14.6 Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC)	34
2.15 Transmission of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>E. coli</i>	35
2.16 Human susceptibility to Salmonella and E. coli disease	
2.17 Salmonella and E. coli occurrence in raw meat	
2.18 Salmonella and E. coli prevention and control	37
2.19 Antibiotics	
2.20 Benefits and purposes of antibiotics usage	41
2.21 Classification of antibiotics	42
2.22 Antibiotics commonly used for human and animal treatment	
2.22.1 Amoxicillin	
2.22.2 Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid	
2.22.3 Azithromycin	40
2.22.4 Ceftriaxone	41
2.22.5 Chloramphenicol	41
2.22.6 Ciprofloxacin	42
2.22.7 Gentamicin	43
2.22.8 Sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim	44
2.22.8 Sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim2.22.9 Tetracycline	44 45
2.22.8 Sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim2.22.9 Tetracycline2.23 Places antimicrobials are obtained for human and animal use and their to the second s	44 45 types.46
 2.22.8 Sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim 2.22.9 Tetracycline 2.23 Places antimicrobials are obtained for human and animal use and their to 2.24 Antibiotic resistance 	44 45 types.46 47



2.25 Mechanisms of antibiotics resistances	.49
2.26 Salmonella and E. coli as antibiotic resistance indicators	.51
2.27 Antibiotics resistance prevalence in E. coli and Salmonella	. 52
2.28 Multidrug resistance of <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Salmonella</i>	.53
CHAPTER THREE	.55
MATERIALS AND METHODS	.55
3.1 Study area	.55
3.2 Sample collection for isolation of <i>Salmonella enterica</i> and <i>E. coli</i>	.56
3.3 Isolation of Salmonella enterica	.57
3.4 Isolation of Escherichia coli (E. coli)	.58
3.5 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>E</i> .	
coli	58
	. 50
3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)	58
3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)3.5.2 Confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates by PCR	58 58 59
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 3.5.2 Confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates by PCR 3.5.3 Gel electrophoresis 	58 58 59 60
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 3.5.2 Confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates by PCR 3.5.3 Gel electrophoresis 3.6 Antibiotic resistance of <i>Salmonella enterica</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> from meat 	58 58 59
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 3.5.2 Confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates by PCR 3.5.3 Gel electrophoresis	58 58 59 60
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)	58 59 60 .60 .61
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 3.5.2 Confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates by PCR 3.5.3 Gel electrophoresis 3.6 Antibiotic resistance of <i>Salmonella enterica</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> from meat samples. 3.7 Data analysis CHAPTER FOUR 	58 59 60 .60 .61 .62
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 3.5.2 Confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates by PCR 3.5.3 Gel electrophoresis 3.6 Antibiotic resistance of <i>Salmonella enterica</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> from meat samples. 3.7 Data analysis CHAPTER FOUR 4.0 RESULTS 	58 59 60 .60 .61 .62 .62
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)	58 59 60 60 61 62 62
 3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 3.5.2 Confirmation of <i>Salmonella</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates by PCR 3.5.3 Gel electrophoresis 3.6 Antibiotic resistance of <i>Salmonella enterica</i> and <i>Escherichia coli</i> from meat samples 3.7 Data analysis CHAPTER FOUR 4.0 RESULTS 4.1 Prevalence of <i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples during the dry and rainy seasons 	58 59 60 60 61 62 62 62



4.1.2 Prevalence of <i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples during the rainy season63
4.2 Prevalence of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples during the
dry and rainy seasons
4.2.1 Prevalence of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples during the dry
season
4.2.2 Prevalence of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples during the
rainy season
4.3 Polymerase chain reaction for the confirmation of E. coli and Salmonella
enterica isolates from raw meat samples
4.3.1 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the confirmation of Escherichia coli
isolates
4.3.2 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the confirmation of Salmonella enterica
isolates
4.4 Antibiotic resistance of <i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples during the dry
and rainy seasons
4.4.1 Antibiotic resistance of E. coli isolates from raw meat samples during the dry
season
4.4.2 Antibiotic resistance of E. coli isolates from raw meat samples during the rainy
season
4.4.3 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual
<i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples in the dry season
4.4.4 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual
<i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples in the rainy season71



4.5 Antibiotic resistance of <i>Salmonella enterica</i> isolates from raw meat samples
during the dry and rainy seasons
4.5.1 Antibiotic resistance of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples
during the dry season72
4.5.2 Antibiotics resistance of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples in
the rainy season
4.5.3 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual
Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples in the dry season
4.5.4 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual
Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples in the rainy season
CHAPTER FIVE
5.0 DISCUSSION
5.1 Prevalence of E. coli isolates from raw meat samples during the dry and rainy
seasons74
5.1 Prevalence of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples during the
dry and rainy seasons76
5.3 Antibiotic resistance of <i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples during the dry
and rainy seasons
5.4 Antibiotic resistance of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples
during the dry and rainy seasons
CHAPTER SIX
6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION
6.1Conclusion



6.2 Recommendations	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Differential characteristics of Salmonella species and subspecies
Table 2.2: Number of serovars per species and subspecies as at 2007
Table 2.3: Salmonella serovars identified to cause infections in domestic animals 28
Table 2.4: Some antibiotics and their microbial source 40
Table 2.5: Classifications of antibiotics 43
Table 3.1: Primers and cycling conditions for PCR-based assays 59
Table 4.1: Antibiotic resistance of <i>E. coli</i> isolated from raw meat samples in the dry
season
Table 4.2: Antibiotic resistance of <i>E. coli</i> isolated from raw meat samples in the rainy
season
Table 4.3: Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of
individual <i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples in the dry season70
Table 4.4: Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of
individual <i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples in the rainy season71
Table 4.5: Antibiotic resistance of Salmonella isolated from raw meat samples in the
dry season72



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1: Map of Central Gonja
Figure 4.1: Prevalence of <i>E. coli</i> isolates from raw meat samples during the dry season
Figure 4.2: Prevalence of E. coli isolates from raw meat samples during the rainy
season
Figure 4.3: Prevalence of Salmonella enterica isolates from raw meat samples during
the dry season
Figure 4.4 Polymerase chain reaction products for the confirmation of Escherichia coli
isolates
Figure 4.5: Polymerase chain reaction products for the confirmation of Salmonella
<i>enterica</i> isolates67



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMES

- AI..... Avian Influenza
- AMSA.....American Meat Science Association
- CDC.....Centres for Disease Control and Prevention
- DNA.....Deoxyribonucleic Acid
- FDA.....Food and Drugs Authority
- GIT.....Gastro-intestinal Tract
- HACCP......Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point
- HAA.....Heterocyclic Aromatic Amines
- HGT.....Horizontal Gene Transfer
- MUFA......Mono-Unsaturated Fatty Acid
- MAR indexMultiple Antibiotic Resistance Index
- PBPs.....Penicillin-binding Proteins
- PAH..... Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons
- PCR.....Polymerase Chain Reaction
- PUFA.....Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids
- SSA.....Sub-Saharan Africa
- TBC.....Total Bacterial Count
- TCC.....Total Coliform Count
- TPC.....Total Plate Count
- TVC.....Total Viable Count





CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Meats including beef chevon and mutton and their related products are both significant sources of micronutrients for human sustenance and a good supply of high-value animal protein worldwide (Lukáová et al., 2014; Valsta et al., 2005). As families and individuals' incomes improve in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), so does the intake of meat and fish. According to Desiere et al. (2017), the trend of SSA consumers eating meat and fish is neither stabilizing nor slowing down. In the wealthy world, an adult can eat up to 80 kilograms of meat annually, compared to the developing world's annual average of 30 kg (Halweil, 2008). Foodborne illnesses can affect humans if they consume contaminated meat, meat products, milk, seafood or eggs that have been exposed to biological hazards like bacteria, viruses and parasites (Foley & Lynne, 2007; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016). According to Newell et al. (2010), the prevention, reduction and control of pathogens contamination on meat should begin at the farm level of the animal until slaughter at the abattoir to improve the wholesomeness of meat. Gastroenteritis, which is distinguished by abdominal discomfort, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea and headache, are unique signs and symptoms of salmonellosis in humans (Foley & Lynne, 2007; Nichols et al., 2022). Infection with pathogenic E. coli typically results in very bad diarrhea (Yang et al., 2017). Productivity in livestock reduces if they are diseased, leading to observed decreased feed conversion efficiency and growth rate which may result in higher fatality rates as well (Osei-Sekyere, 2014). Most bacteria like E. coli and Salmonella live in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) of humans and animals, especially in the stomach, small and large intestines (Adzitey et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2017). Bacteria end up contaminating the environment when contents of the GIT are released out of the animal through defecation, evisceration among others (Adzitey & Huda, 2021; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2014).



A diverse number of bacterial prevalence including *Salmonella spp., E. coli, Shigella spp., Campylobacter spp., Enterococcus spp.,* and *Pseudomonas spp.* have been isolated from carcasses and meat from slaughter houses at post-mortem, during dressing, evisceration and further processing of various meats. Contamination sources have been from hides and rectum of the animal, butchering equipment like knives, the environment including hands of butchers and other meat handlers, and the floor of the slaughter area (Adzitey et al., 2020a; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016). *Salmonella* and *E. coli* infections when detected in humans are normally self-eliminating, but when the infection symptoms are diagnosed to be intense, antibiotics are given for curing purposes (Adzitey *et al.*, 2020a; Foley & Lynne, 2007). Therefore, antibiotics are used in meta-phylaxis and prophylaxis conditions for the cure of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* infections in both humans and animals or sometimes as growth promoters. But this can sometimes lead to antibiotic resistance (Osei-Sekyere, 2014; Adzitey *et al.*, 2019; Adzitey & Huda, 2021).

1.2 Problem statement

Food contamination with biological hazards is a serious public health challenge globally. Such foods can cause food poisoning in humans. Interestingly, raw meat has been reported to be a source of human food poisoning (Cohen *et al.*, 2007). This can happen if meat is contaminated and cross-contaminated by biological hazards such as bacteria from slaughterhouses and abattoirs as a result of the unhygienic slaughtering, dressing and handling of animals and their carcasses at slaughter houses and abattoirs (Adzitey *et al.*, 2015; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016; Adzitey & Huda, 2021). Furthermore, bacterial contamination of meat and its products is of safety concern when it comes to the shelf life of meat during production and storage. Several studies have revealed that meat from abattoirs, slaughter houses and meat sales points have been contaminated with different microbes including *Salmonella*, *E. coli*, *Enterococcus*, *Pseudomonas*, *Klebsiella*, *Campylobacter*, *Yersinia*, *Listeria*, *Shigella*, *Brucella*, *Streptococcus* and *Staphylococcus*



species (Adzitey *et al.*, 2015; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016; Ekli, *et al.*, 2019). Both *Salmonella* and *E. coli* infections are self-limiting; they become life-threatening in the aged, infants, immunocompromised patients, patient receiving inadequate medical attention, or if microbial load in the host exceeds the immune system controllable level of the patient (Foley & Lynne, 2007; Schroeder & Hilbi, 2008; Yang *et al.*, 2017). Antimicrobials like trimethoprim, ceftriaxone, azithromycin and others are used for the treatment of *Salmonella* and *E.coli* infections in humans (Schroeder & Hilbi, 2008; Dsani *et al.*, 2020). However, the continuous and improper usage of these antibiotics enables bacteria to develop mechanisms of sresistance against multiple drugs over time (Osei-Sekyere, 2014; Dsani *et al.*, 2020).

1.3 Justification

In literature, it has been observed that many research has been carried out on the prevalence and antimicrobial resistances of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* on raw meat and meat products in Ghana. For example, Adzitey *et al.* (2015) in Techiman; Adzitey *et al.* (2020) in Tamale and Ekli *et al.* (2020) in Wa, all worked on the prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Salmonella* isolated from raw meats in Ghana. Also, the prevalence of *E. coli* and their antibiotic resistances have been reported by Yaffeto *et al.* (2019) in Cape Coast, Adzitey *et al.* (2021) in the Upper East Region, and many more in other parts of Ghana as well. However, such data is unavailable in Buipe and its environs. Also, earlier researches in Ghana especially in the study location, considered no or little seasonal variation in the prevalence of the bacteria in meats and their resistance against antibiotics.. Therefore, this study seeks to report on the occurrence and antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* in meats both in the dry and rainy seasons in Buipe town in the Savannah Region of Ghana.



1.4 Importance of this study

Findings from this research will give consumers of meat and butchers from Buipe the contamination levels of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* in beef, chevon and mutton in order to prevent or reduce any possible foodborne diseases through meat consumption. It will equally give medical practitioners, patients and livestock farmers an informed decision for the choice of antibiotics which are not resistant to infections caused by *Salmonella* or *E. coli* from meats in Buipe for a more accurate prescription and to prevent possible antimicrobial resistance. It will also serve as literature for future and further investigations on meat related food issues from the area and for Ghana and the world at large. In the long term, help contribute to achieve Goal 3 [(Good health and well-being) - Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages)] of "The UN 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)".

1.5 Objectives of study

- 1. To determine the occurrence of *Salmonella enterica* and *E. coli* in raw beef, chevon and mutton in Buipe during the dry and rainy seasons.
- 2. To determine the antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella enterica* and *E. coli* isolated from the raw beef, chevon and mutton in Buipe during the dry and rainy seasons.



CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Meat

The American Meat Science Association (AMSA) refer to meat as the skeletal muscles and associated tissues that come from mammals, birds, fish, reptiles and amphibians which are often collected for human consumption (Boler & Woerner, 2017). In vitro, laboratory-produced, lab-grown or artificial meat coming from animal-derived satellite or stem cells may also be considered meat, and the first "lab-grown" hamburger was prepared and enjoyed by a group of Dutch researchers in 2013 (Boler & Woerner, 2017). According to Liu et al. (2017), in China meat refers to all edible parts of an animal consisting of skeletal muscle and fat suitable for human consumption as food. In South Africa, meat is said to be the parts of a slaughtered animal which are basically meant for human consumption and had not pass through any further process rather than quartering, deboning, mincing or cooling, that do not change the original characteristics of the meat (Erasmus & Hoffman, 2017). In Ghana, Ohene-Adjei & Bediako (2017) referred to meat as the muscles, skin, fat and other tissues and edible offal from vertebrates used as food for human. Edible non-carcass constituents such as offal, liver, kidneys, lungs, uterus, tongue and others which are tissues and organs, can also be referred to as meat (Boler & Woerner, 2017). Meat is well known globally to contain high levels of proteins, amino acids and vitamins B12 which is not found in plant sources (Yafetto et al., 2019). Meat also have essential amino acids like lysine and tryptophan; the essential fatty acid, linolenic acid, all of which plants sources do not have (Akorli, 2012).



2.2 Classification of meats by habitat of animal

Meat can be classified according to the habitat from which the animal meat is sourced into three (Ohene-Adjei & Bediako, 2017) as follows:

- Home-grown meat: from domesticated animals such as beef from cattle, chevon from goat, chicken from domesticated fowl and guinea fowl, mutton from sheep and pork from pig
- 2. Bush-meat: from all wild animals like rats, crocodiles, monkeys, snakes, birds, etc.
- 3. Water-body-associated meat: from fishes.

2.3 Home-grown meat types in Ghana

This is any meat that come from a domestic animal. Such meat include beef, chevon, chicken, mutton, pork, etc. (Ohene-Adjei & Bediako, 2017).

2.3.1 Beef

Beef is the flesh or meat from a matured cattle whilst veel or veal is the flesh of a young cattle (Ndlovu, 2015; Őrsi, 2015). Beef is well known to contain many nutrients such as proteins, many minor nutrients like vitamins: A, B6, B12, D and E, and minerals like Fe, Zn and Se. It is also known to have some level of poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) good for human health (Scollan *et al.*, 2006). According to Aikins-wilson *et al.* (2015) and Dsani *et al.* (2020), beef is the second most consumed meat after chicken, whilst chevon comes third then pork fourth, followed by mutton which is less consumed by Ghanaians. But other studies by Osei-Asare & Eghan (2014) and Abraham *et al.* (2022)s put beef as the most consumed type of meat in Ghana.



2.3.2 Chevon

According to Scollan *et al.* (2006), chevon, also called 'goat-meat', is meat from the animal species goat. A study by Lijalem *et al.* (2015) showed that the protein quality of goat meat is higher than that of beef and mutton. Reports from Abraham *et al.* (2022) indicated that chevon was the most preferred meat for consumption after beef to most of the people of the Northern Regions of Ghana. With more attention and improvements placed on good husbandry and production practices, a full potential on the meat, economical and other non-market benefits can be derived from the goat (Adams *et al.*, 2021).

2.3.3 Mutton

Meat or flesh from a matured sheep is known as mutton (Örsi, 2015). Meat from sheep is sometimes also referred to as lamb (Warriss, 2000). Mutton serve as a good source of animal protein, fat, vitamins and minerals and for that matter form important component of many people's meals (Scollan *et al.*, 2006; Adams *et al.*, 2021; Abraham *et al.*, 2022). The sale of meat from sheep serve as a source of income to members of beneficiary families in the Ghanaian community (Adams *et al.*, 2021). Mutton is among the popular mesats in Ghana and in particular in the Northern regions whose consumption is with little or no taboos serving as a good potential for livestock farmers to 'haverst' lagre income from for their livelihood (Adzitey, 2013; Adams *et al.*, 2021).

2.3.4 Chicken

Meat from the domestic fowl (*Gallus gallus domesticus*), is referred to as chicken (Smith & Smith, 2012; Dikeman & Devine, 2014). The live domestic fowl is also



called chicken (Őrsi, 2015). Like any other meat types, chicken is a good source of protein, vitamins and minerals for human health (Ivanova *et al.*, 2016; Haunshi *et al.*, 2022). Compared with other meats like beef, lamb and pork, chicken happen to contain more and high-qaulity protein, low total fat and low saturated-fatty-acids (SFA). It is therefore regarded as having good nutritional qualities for the mantenance of good heatlth in human (Ivanova *et al.*, 2016). A report from Aikins-wilson *et al.* (2015) puts chicken as the number one most consumed meat in Ghana.

2.3.5 Guinea fowl meat

It is meat from the poultry species, the domestic guinea fowl (*Numida meleagris*) (Teye and Adam, 2000; Moreki, 2009;). Guinea fowl meat has a gamey taste and cent than that of chicken and is therefore more favoured in consumption and attract higher price compared to chicken meat (Moreki & Seabo, 2012). Although guinea fowl meat is less tender than chicken (Haile, 2022), the meat has higher unsaturated fatty acids (mono-unsaturated fatty acids – MUFAs and poly-unsaturated fatty acids – PUFAs) and essential amino acids than chicken and good for a healthier coronary diet diseases prevention (Tlhong, 2008; Haile, 2022). Guinea fowl meat has low levels of total fat, high proteins, and high general mineral content compared to chicken (Tlhong, 2008). Conspiciously, the meat appear darker than that of chiken (Tlhong, 2008; Teye and Adam, 2000). Guinea fowl meat has both cultural and social benefits, seen as a delicacy by many Ghanaians, especially to people of the northern expedition who consume it most during traditional festivities like the fire festival and annual celebbrations including the two Islamic Eids and the Christian celebration, Chrismas (Issaka & Yeboah,



2016). Guinea fowl and other poultry production give both meat employment opportunities to a good number of rural household members in Ghana (Mensah-Bonsu & Rich, 2010).

2.3.6 Pork

Pork refer to flesh from a pig, who is also known as swine, hog or *Sus scrofa* (Örsi, 2015). Pork is globally known and consumed as a source of animal food rich in proteins, fats and other micronutrients essential for good human health (Zhang et al., 2022). The flavor and overall eating and acceptable quality of pork depends on its fat level; the higher the grade of pork, the more fat contained in the meat (Zhang et al., 2022). It is worthnoting that, higher levels of some PUFAs are negatively correlated to pork general flavor and acceptance to consumers whilst others (PUFAs) too are postively correlated to carcass flavor and as well its acceptability (Cameron et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 2022). It is the broadly eaten meat product globally (Banson et al., 2014) and the last but one consumed meat type in Ghana (Aikins-wilson et al., 2015). Consumers in Ghana do not only eat the skeletal meat of pigs but most also eat the offal (preferably the liver and stomach) as a delicacy (Weldam et al., 2015). Most offal consumers see such meat more as a delicacy and its nutritional value but not cost of that meat part (Weldam et al., 2015; Felix et al., 2016). In the report of Weldam et al. (2015), even though pork attract good market price, this is very low compared to other meats like beef, chicken and mutton due to a general dislike and religious taboos assocciated with the animal and its meat in Ghana. Tribally, Ashantis, Akans, Frafras and Fantes in that order are the majority of people who consume pork more than others in Ghana (Sekyere & Adu, 2015). The market of pork is affected mostly in overweighty or fatty pigs and prices also



fluctuate periodically due to frequent outbreak or incidences of the untreatable african swine (Sekyere & Adu, 2015).

2.4 Sources of contamination of raw meat

Tissues of healthy animals are typically sterile (Warriss, 2000). Many different bacteria or microbes can contaminate raw meats mainly at slaughter and dressing levels (Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016). Raw meat including beef, chevon, chicken and other related meat types displayed for sale at many retail shops and supermarkets are frequently contaminated with a diversity of microbes like E. coli, Salmonella, Klebsiella, Listeria, Pseudomonas, Staphylococcus among others (Ali et al., 2010; Iroha et al., 2011). Source of contaminations are usually on meat and meat surfaces, butchering equipement like knives, aprons, etc. and on surfaces of the slaughter surrounding environment like butchering tables, walls, etc. (Ali et al., 2010; Iroha et al., 2011; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016). Air and aerosol droplets in less hygienic slaughter environments are also a source of meat contamination (Heuzenroeder, 2000; Warriss, 2000). Usually, contamination can occur horizontally between contaminated meat and that of wholesome meat especially in a filthy abattoir (Bughti et al., 2017). Studies indicated that the peripheral lymph nodes of infected meat animals can always habour a number of pathogenic bacteria like Salmonella (Koohmaraie et al., 2012; Olafson et al., 2016). Investigations also made on the blood of cattle exposed to infected biting insects revealed the prevalence of Salmonella Senftenberg (Olafson et al., 2016). Also, the hide of meat animals habour many biological hazards like Salmonella that can contaminate meat during slaughter and dressing of carcasses (Koohmaraie et al., 2012; Olafson et al., 2016). Again, animals droppings or waste contain high levels of bacteria which



contamite the environment, especially the slaughter and dressing floor or area of carcasses (Economou & Gousia, 2015; Adzitey et al., 2020). Unsterilized butchering equipment such as knives, utensils and weighing balances, unhygienic working dresses like aprons, hair gears and the hands of personnel including meat inspectors and butchers at abattoirs and meat shops are sources of pathogenic microbes that can contaminate meat (Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016; Adzitey & Huda, 2021). Infected and condemned carcasses and carcass parts or trimmings at the abattoir contains high levels of microbes and can be serious sources to cause contamination and cross contaminations of wholesome carcasses and meats if not proper handled or disposed (Roberts et al., 2009). Biofilms formed both in the air and on floors of slaughter houses and abattoirs are also considered hgh source of pathogenic bacterial contamination on meat (Ghidini et al., 2022). Water from unhygienic sources could also be a serious source of mircrobial contamination when used for washing carcass in the production line of meat in slaughter houses (Warriss, 2000). The soil serves as another source where some microbes like Salmonella habours in (Silva et al., 2014).

2.5 Pathogenic bacteria found on raw meat

There are many biological hazards particularly pathogenic bacteria that have been isolated from meats of all types from abattoirs and slaughter slabs or houses including but not limited to *Staphylococcus, Pseudomonas, Yersinia, Clostridium, Campylobacter, Streptococcus, Shigella, Salmonella, Listeria, Escherichia coli,* etc. (Adzitey *et al.*, 2015; Lijalem *et al.*, 2015; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016; Ekli, *et al.*, 2019; Yafetto *et al.*, 2019; Dsani *et al.*, 2020; Adzitey & Huda, 2021). Most of these microbes are normal flora or commensals haboring the intestinal tract of



the GIT of both human and animals. Such microbes include bacteria like *Proteous* and *E. coli* (Van Den Bogaard & Stobberingh, 2000; Yang *et al.*, 2017). The pathogenic bacteria usually possess certain virulent properties like the production of toxins, spores formation, all in the case of *Clostridium perfringens*, and above all the ingestion of lethal doses by a host will cause infection in a healthy animal by invading the GIT (Li *et al.*, 2016). They become pathogenic to human and animals epecially in the aged, younger ones and those whose immune system have been compromised (Foley & Lynne, 2007; Yang *et al.*, 2017).

2.6 Foodborne diseases and zoonoses

A foodborne disease, also known as food poisoning or food illness, is any disease whose symptoms manifest from the eating of contaminated food containing biological pathogens like viruses, bacteria, protozoa and parasites, chemical substances like toxins and other heavy metals, and physical hazards (Adley & Ryan, 2016; Riemann & Cliver, 2006; Todd, 2014). Diseases that are caused by biological agents or pathogens from animals to human and the vice versa, either directly or indirectly, are referred to as zoonotic diseases (Adley & Ryan, 2016). According to Todd (2014), some zoonotic diseases can be acute or chronic in the manifestations of their signs and symptoms in the host, and can also be endemic, that is, infecting the host and occuring almost always in a particular or specific location; epidemic, occuring at many different locations; or pandemic if the disease prevalence is widespread across nations and continents, almost globally. Studies by Riemann and Cliver (2006), Todd (2014), Adley and Ryan (2016) and Addy *et al.* (2020) reported that zoonoses can be caused by bacteria including *Salmonella, Clostridium perfringens, Vibros, Escherichia coli. Campylobacter jejuni, Yersinia,*



Listeria, Clostridium botulinum, Staphylococcus, Bacillus cereus, Cronobacter, Mycobaterium, Brucella; viruses including Avian influenza (AI), Hepatitis A and E, NoV (Norwalk-like virus), Rotavirus, Poliovirus, Astrovirus; protozoa include Cryptosporidium, Cyclospora, Toxoplasma, Entamoeba, Gardia; parasites comprising helminths include nematodes (Trichinella, Anisakis, Ascaris), trematodes (Opisthorchis, Paragonimus, Fasciola, Clonorchis) and tapeworms or cestodes (Echinococcus, Taenia, Diphyllobothrium).

2.7 Food safety and hygiene

The requirements and precautions needed to guarantee the safety of food from manufacturing to consumption is known as food hygiene (Kamboj et al., 2020). According to Green and Kane (2014) and FDA-Ghana (2020), the concept of an effective Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point (HACCP) is required to achieve a good food safety and hygiene. Certain chemical contaminants like agrochemicals including pesticides and fertilizers in vegetables and fruits, antibiotic residues and other heavy metals like cadmium, mercury and lead in animal tissues during animal rearing (Nerín et al., 2016) or pathogenic microbial contaminants like bacteria in animal tissues from unhygienic husbandry practices during livestock production or at farm level (Beach et al., 2002; Gallo et al., 2020), all need to be detected at the raw material production stage with effective HACCP for possible elimination or minimal contamination to prevent their harm to man in final product as food (Nerín et al., 2016). Also, Beach et al. (2002) and Nerín et al. (2016) both reported that contamination of food (meat/carcass) can occur during transportation if the means of transport is contaminated with any sort of hazard. According to Botta et al. (2020), recommended, permitted and effective but not harmful levels of



cleaning and sanitizing agents and methods are employed in food processing to eliminate or control microbial contamination. Certain metals and glassware need to be avoided entirely as cleaning agents and/or equipment in the process of cleaning in food processing as they can leave harmful contaminants in the food (Nerín et al., 2016). Apply only the amount of heat that is permissible in food processing to prevent the creation of certain dangerous substances such as chloropropanols, acrylamide, furans, polycyclic aromatic heterocycles (PAHs- which can be polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) or heterocyclic aromatic amines (HAA), nitrosamines, on food which are all deleterious to human (Nerín et al., 2016). Food packaging materials have been known to contain some levels of toxic migrants in such materials; about thirty (30) known different plastic materials contain varying degrees of these migrants which move out and mix up or contaminate with food packaged in them (Lau & Wong, 2000; Arvanitoyannis & Bosnea, 2004). As a result, the inclusion levels of such migrants which come in the form of monomers, additive plastics and oligomers of polymeric packaging materials of plastics are legislated and regulated by bodies like the USA (United States of America) FDA (Food and Drugs Administration) to assure consumers of high safety and a long shelf life of packaged food products (Lau & Wong, 2000). During storage, it is expected that the quality, safety and shelf life of a food product are maintained under legislated recommended conditions of temperature and humidity depending on properties of the packaging material and food type in order not to alter the organoleptic status of the product (Nerín et al., 2016).



2.8 Foodborne diseases' effects on public health

It is still hugely unclear the exact extent of havoc foodborne pathogen-related diseases have brought to man, and statistics on their burden is only available for some few industrialized nations and on a few pathogens as well (Käferstein, 2003; Newell et al., 2010). The situation is even worse in developing nations where data is scarcely taken and the public there only get to know how dreadful epidemics occur in the media (Käferstein, 2003). It is reported by Odeyemi (2016) that there have been more than 250 sources of foodborne illnesses known so far worldwide. It is reported by Hoffmann et al. (2015) that 1 person from every 6 people get infected with foodborne diseases in the USA annually. Campylobacter is said to be ranked as the number one leading cause of diseases by foodborne pathogens in the USA, with 17.8 cases in 100,000 people (Delahoy et al., 2023), whilst in the UK foodborne norovirus is reported to be the leading cause of foodborne illnesses (Holland et al., 2020). But in a worldwide view, norovirus cause the greatest number of foodborne diseases, then Campylobacter, Salmonella and Listeria monocytogenes in that order (Lee & Yoon, 2021). Globally, a reported 600 million cases of food contamination diseases occur resulting in about 420,000 deaths annually (Lee & Yoon, 2021). On the contrary, it had been stated by the USA that in the world, about 76 million cases, with 325,000 hospitalizations and 5,200 deaths from foodborne infections occur every year (Buzby & Roberts, 2009). In USA, the FoodNet (Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network) reported in 2021 that foodborne illnesses from some 15 states for that year was 22,019 cases, resulting in 5,395 hospitalizations and 153 deaths (Delahoy et al., 2023), whilst in general in the USA, about 48 million people are infected, with 9.4 million of these cases been pathogen specific, resulting in 55,961 hospitalization and 1,351 deaths



due to foodborne infections only (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2015). In the United Kingdom (UK) it is estimated that the annual human deaths due to foodborne infections stands at 180 deaths, with many of these recorded deaths in the elderly of over 75 years (Holland *et al.*, 2020). Research on the financial impact of foodborne infections differ greatly, whilst certain studies focus on the impact of one disease causing agent, others seek to compute for many others within a nation (Buzby & Roberts, 2009). In 2013, it costed a total of US\$15,534,647,106 trillion as economic burden from the infection of some 15 pathogen specific illnesses due to foodborne in the USA (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2015).

2.9 Controlling the incidence of foodborne infections

To control foodborne illnesses, education, expertise in medical procedures, surveillance, laboratory research, hazard communication and handling of hazards are essential (Stein *et al.*, 2010). After diagnosing the cause of disease outbreak, identifying the population at risk and doing a surrounding and further scientific analysis of the disease, execute the control and averting measures (Stein *et al.*, 2010). Control measures for a confirmed disease outbreak include: control of the source of the food or premise causing the infection by taking away such food from the public domain, changing the method of such food manufacture or process, and banning or ceasing the location or food from operation or sales; control of the disease spread in situations the contaminated items cannot be withdrawn from the market but the disease spread can be reduced (Stein *et al.*, 2010).



2.10 Coliform and Enterobacteriaceae

Coliform refers to a group of bacteria who are not-spore-producing, gram-negative bacilli and are capable of fermenting lactose to produce lactic acid and gas at incubation temperatures of 35±2°C between 1 to 2 days (Parr, 1939; Halkman & Halkman, 2014). The first known members of this group of bacteria was Klebsiella pneumoniae (Parr, 1939). The group comprises the following four major genera: Citrobacter, Enterobacter, Rauoltella and Klebsiella (Halkman & Halkman, 2014; Li et al., 2014). They are found naturally everywhere in the environment including water, in soils, on plants, in foods, in human and animal wastes (Gordon, 2001). Some of these coliforms naturally inhabit the intestinal compartment of warmblooded animals (Halkman & Halkman, 2014). Coliforms are usually used as indicators for lack of good hygiene or sanitation practices (Halkman & Halkman, 2014; Li et al., 2014; Niyovitungiye et al., 2020). Water from drains and taps used for irrigating vegetable farms in the Accra Metropolis examined indicated the presence of coliforms like Salmonella, Shigella, Pseudomonas, E. coli, Staphylococcus, Klebsiella and many others (Mensah et al., 2001), but tap water which contain chlorinated-treated water indicated lower levels of fecal coliforms than drain or river water (Mensah et al., 2001; Niyoyitungiye et al., 2020). Fecal coliforms have been isolated from both vegetables at farms and markets, and from raw meats at slaughter slabs and meat retail shops (Mensah et al., 2001; Adjei et al., 2022). Many vegetable salad vended on streets have been reported to be contaminated by coliforms including Bacillus, Shigella, E. coli and Salmonella (Abakari et al., 2018). These coliforms are also found in ready-to-eat (RTE) foods, meat and drinking water, and on the hands of people handling these consumables (Adzitey et al., 2021; Dela et al., 2023). Coliforms contaminants have also been



reportedly isolated form milk and dairy products (Adzitey et al., 2020a). Enterobacteriaceae is a family of bacteria which inhabits the intestinal floor of all warm-blooded animals, particularly, mammals, and the family is made up of about 53 genera (Unit et al., 2013). About 26 of these genera, including Hafnia, Klebsiella, Escherichia, Proteus, Providencia, Salmonella, Serratia among others, are considered to cause illnesses in man (Unit et al., 2013). Total viable count (TVC), total plate count (TPC), total bacterial count (TBC) or total coliform count (TCC) under any testing circumstances, provides a projection of the number of microbial cells in a substance (Halkman & Halkman, 2014; Rani & Mhlongo, 2023). Populations of microbes in food samples of the various micro-organisms are never the same as these are reliant on the properties and state/stage of the food type, the surrounding environmental conditions and the microbe involved (Halkman & Halkman, 2014). The infective level of microbial load of any type of microbe or pathogen on meat determines its infective dose to consumers when contaminated with meat (Rani & Mhlongo, 2023). It is known that TVC of pathogenic microbes cannot be avoided entirely on meat but can be minimized to acceptable limits or levels (Zweifel et al., 2005).

2.11 Microbial contamination of meat

Meat from the flesh of a healthy animal is always sterile (Warriss, 2000). Foodborne microbes isolated from contaminated meat in meat shops could many time be a result of horizontal or cross contamination from either the environment or other vertical animal carriers of these pathogens (Ali *et al.*, 2010). The unhygienic handling of meat during the production of meat and meat products goes a long way to increase the level of microbial contamination (Iroha *et al.*, 2011;



Akorli, 2012; Adzitey et al., 2019). According to Rani and Mhlongo (2023), meat stored for longer periods, and meat transported for longer distances all under unhygienic conditions increase the amount of microbial contamination in it. Meat also stored under refrigeration with fluctuating temperature conditions leads to high microbial contamination and growth (Rani & Mhlongo, 2023). A study by Adzitey et al. (2019), Yafetto et al. (2019), Adzitey et al. (2020a), Adzitey et al. (2021) and Adjei et al. (2022) from Ghana revealed the contamination of meat with total bacteria including Staphylococcus spp, Klebsiella spp, Streptococcus spp, Salmonella spp, E. coli spp, Norcadia spp, Bacillus spp, Citrobacter spp, Pseudomonas spp, Enterococcus spp, Shigella spp, Proteus spp, Enterobacter spp, Campylobacter spp, etc. All these bacteria cause FBDs including food poisoning (Warriss, 2000). Fungi isolated from raw meat include Penicillium spp, Fusarium spp, Aspergillus spp, Candida spp, Rhodotorula spp, (Yafetto et al., 2019). Viruses involved in meat contaminations mostly the RNA type, is the Orthohepevirus of the family A/Hepeviridae, also known as the Hepatitis E virus – HEV (Velebit et al., 2015). Aside HEV, Velebit et al. (2015) added other viruses like Rotaviruses, Rabies virus, Dengue virus among others as been of zoonotic importance. The prion responsible for Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy or Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy infection in cattle (Hueston, 2013; Todd, 2014), whilst scrapie sheep and goats (Riemann & Cliver, 2006) have been contaminated in meat and bone meals (MBMs) and can zoonotically lead to the Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease (CJD), Kuru, or Gertsmann-Straussler-Scheinker syndrome in human (Riemann & Cliver, 2006; Espinosa et al., 2011; Hueston, 2013; Todd, 2014). Protozoal pathogenic microbes detected in contaminated raw meat which can cause deadly running stomach include Cryptosporidium parvum, Toxoplasma


gondii, Giardia lamblia, Entamoeba histolytica (Shaltout, 2000). Adult parasites and/or their eggs of zoonotic importance contaminated in meat include, *Taenia*, *Diphyllobothrium*, *Fasciola*, *Ecchinococcus*, *Trichinella*, *Ascaris*, *Anisakis*, *Opisthorchis*, *Paragonimus* and *Clonorchis* (Todd, 2014; Addy *et al.*, 2020).

2.12 Salmonella genus

The genus Salmonella is a bacillus Gram-negative facultative aerobic-anaerobic bacteria which grow better within a temperature range of 5 °C-45 °C and at an average temperature of 37°C within a medium of pH ranging from 4.0 to 9.0, but with 7.0 as the optimum (Gast & Porter, 2020). The dimensions of Salmonella rods are 2.0µm-5.0µm and 0.7µm-1.5µm, respectively for their length and width (Dougnon et al., 2017). Salmonella have survived in slurry conditions of more than 5% solids with temperature less than 10°C for close to 286 days (Heuzenroeder, 2000). With its nutritional needs being simple carbon and nitrogen, when cultured in simple media like nutrient agar, stab-inoculated and sealed, and kept at normal room temperature, can remain viable for longer periods (Bowden et al., 2014; Gast & Porter, 2020). Salmonella naturally inhabits the GIT of animals and man and they have been found in the environment as well as food or water is presumed to be contamination with feces (Meuten, 2002). Historically as a coliform belonging to the Enterobacteriacae family, Salmonella is reported to have contaminated many raw, processed and RTE foods leading to FBDs in humans and animals (Foley & Lynne, 2007; Riemann & Cliver, 2006). Salmonella choleraesuiz was the first ever of this organism to had been identified from swine by American Bacteriologists Daniel Elmer Salmon and Theobald Smith in 1886 (Meuten, 2002; Lamas et al., 2018). Whilst some serovars derived their names according to their



host specification (e.g. Gallinarum for fowl, Abortusovis for sheep), others were named based on the geographical location from which the earliest-most strain was discovered, e.g. *Salmonella* Dublin (Meuten, 2002). According to Brenner *et al.* (2000), Meuten (2002), Coburn *et al.* (2007) and Foley and Lynne (2007), some over 2,000-3,000 serovars of *Salmonella* are known. Historically, White's work in 1926 and that of Kauffmann in 1941 whose analyses both became the Kauffmann-White Scheme, use the relationship between the lipopolysaccharide layer (somatic or O antigen) and the filamentous flagella protein, flagellin, (H antigen) for the classification of *Salmonella* serovars (Brenner *et al.*, 2000; Meuten, 2002; Foley & Lynne, 2007; Gast & Porter, 2020).

2.12.1 Salmonella species grouping based on serotyping

Genomically, *Salmonella* spp are clssified based on the DNA-DNA hybridization relatedness of strains being greater than or equal to 70% (Meuten, 2002). Based on the O and H antigens differences and the genomic relatedness of strains, some serovars share a great level of similarities compared to others thereby giving rise to the division into two broad species from the *Salmonella*; *Salmonella enterica* and *Salmonella bongori* (Meuten, 2002; Tindall *et al.*, 2005; Foley & Lynne, 2007). But according to Su and Chiu (2006), a third and new species by name *Salmonella subterranean* was discovered in 2005 with the expectations that the CDC in future could add it to their system. Almost all (above 99%) the serovars are classified into the *Salmonella enterica* species in which all the pathogenic serovars to humans are contained (Foley & Lynne, 2007; Grimont & Weill, 2007). A collaborative body with WHO, Centre for Reference and Research on *Salmonella* of the Pasteur Institute in Paris France, charged for the updating of the Kauffmann-White Scheme



in 2004 indicated reports of 2,541 *Salmonella* serovars known in history (Su & Chiu, 2006). As *Salmonella ecterica* species have affirnity to humans and other warm-blooded animals like birds and terresterial mammals (Meuten, 2002; Lamas *et al.*, 2018;), *Salmonella bongori* are mostly associated or found in cold-blooded species of animals like fishes and reptiles like snakes, lizards, tortises, etc. (Fookes *et al.*, 2011). *Salmonella bongori* and non-*enterica* subsp. usually do not invade man and other warm-blooded animals due to their lack of or altered disease causing features on their bodies (Lamas *et al.*, 2018).

2.12.2 Salnonella enterica subspecies

Six distinct subscreecies named with roman numerals are known (Meuten, 2002; Lamas *et al.*, 2018), which include;

- I for Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica
- II for Salmonella enterica subsp. salamae
- IIIa for Salmonella enterica subsp. arizonae
- IIIb for Salmonella enterica subsp. diarizonae
- IV for Salmonella enterica subsp. houtenae
- VI for Salmonella enterica subsp. indica

Subspecies IIIa and IIIb originated from III for *arizona*. Also, V is for *Salmonella bongori* which have few serotypes (about 22) and uncommon to human infections, usually infects infants of less than 3 years and immunocompromised people (Lamas *et al.*, 2018) and the symbol V assumed to prevent possible disorder with serotypes epithets of *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* (Grimont & Weill, 2007). In terms of scientific naming, it is worth noting that serotypes are known not to be



species and for that matter do not have to be italicized, e.g., *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* serovar Dublin, in short *Salmonella* serovar Dublin. Again, as was legislated in 2005 by the Judicial Commission of the International Committee on the Systematics of Prokaryotes (Tindall et al., 2005), specifically, serovars of *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* which covers over 99.5% (about over 1,500 serotypes) of *Salmonella* isolates that cause over 99% of Salmonellosis in man (Lamas *et al.*, 2018), are designated with names, mostly of geographical recognition (e.g. *Salmonella panama*); others rather than the subsp. *enterica* and *Salmonella bongori* are given the O:H ratios e.g. *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *diarizonae* serovar 61:(k):1 *Salmonella bongori* 12419 (Grimont & Weill, 2007; Meuten, 2002). Table 2.1 shows the differential characteristics of *Salmonella* species and subspecies and the number of serovars per species and subspecies as at 2007 is presented in Table 2.2.



Species			S. enterica				S. bongori
Subspecies	enterica	Salamae	Arizonae	diarizone	houtenae	indica	
Characters							
Dulcitol	+	+	-	-	-	d	+
ONGP(2h)	-	-	+	+	-	d	+
Malonate	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
Gelatinase	-	+	+	+	+	+	-
Sorbitol	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
Growth with KCN	-	-	-	-	+	-	+
L (+) – tartrate ^(a)	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
Galacturonate	-	+	-	+	+	+	+
γ-glutamyltransferase	$+^{(*)}$	+	-	+	+	+	+
β-glucuronidase	D	D	-	+	-	d	-
Mucate	+	+	+	-(70%)	-	+	+
Salicine	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
Lactose	-	-	-(75%)	+(75%)	-	d	-
Lysed by phage O1	+	+	-	+	-	+	d
Usual habitat	Warm-blood	ded animals	Cold-blooded animals and environment				
(a)= d-tartrate, (*) = Typhimurium d, Dublin-, + = 90% or more positive reactions, -= 90% or more negative reactions, d =							
different reactions given by different serovars.							

Source: Grimont & Weill (2007).

Salmonella species	Numbers
Salmonella enterica	2,557
Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica	1,531
Salmonella enterica subsp. salamae	505
Salmonella enterica subsp. arizonae	99
Salmonella enterica subsp. diazizonae	336
Salmonella enterica subsp. houtenae	73
Salmonella enterica subsp. indica	13
Salmonella bongori	22
Total (genus Salmonella)	2,579
Sources Crimeent & Weill (2007)	

Table 2.2:	Number of	f serovars n	er species ar	nd subspecies	as at 2007
1 abic 2.2 .	i uniber of	l berovarb p	or species and	nu subspectes	

Source: Grimont & Weill (2007)

2.12.3 Salmonella infections in human and animals

According to Heuzenroeder (2000); Uzzau *et al.* (2000); Meuten (2002), Singh (2013) and Demirbilek (2018), on the basis of host, *Salmonellae* are classified into three categories based on their capacity to invade on a range of hosts. Such hosts groupings include;

- 1. Unrestricted hosts serovars: a wide number of hosts for serovars like *S*. Enteriditis or *S*. Typhimurium can infect such hosts, infecting almost all animals, leading to minor intestinal illnesses persisting with no serious signs.
- 2. Hosts restricted: they host serotypes like *S*. Abortusequi, *S*. Typhi and *S*. Gallinarum respectively for horses, human and poultry which are limited only



to a particular host, resulting in deadly systemic infections, with the capacity to multiply in fetuses in the hosts.

3. Host adapted: the group contains serovars including *S*. Cholerasuis and *S*. Dublin for porcine and bovine respectively which can accidentally be found in certain hosts rather than their usual and adapted hosts.

From the over 2,500 serotypes of Salmonella identified so far, just around 50 serovars are pathogenic to either man or animals, many of which come from the subsp. enterica (Uzzau et al., 2000). Some top ten ubiquitous Salmonella serovars isolated in the USA in the year 2005 by CDC for causing human infections are S. Heidelberg, S. Saint-Paul, S. Typhimurium, S. Javiana, S. Muenchen, S. Enteriditis, S. Braenderup, S. Montevideo, S. I 4,[5]12:i and S. Newport (Foley & Lynne, 2007). According to a review study by Coburn et al. (2007), Salmonella infection manifests in any of these four main syndromes: bacteremia or septicemia; enteric or typhoid fever; asymptomatic or chronic; and enterocolitis or diarrhea. Meanwhile Uzzau et al. (2000) indicated that the organism manifests its infection with three syndromes as septicemia, abortion and enteritis. Many serovars infections result in gastro-enteritis with diarrheal symptoms in very acute form as they colonize the intestinal region than the systemic form of the syndromes in both humans and animals (Uzzau et al., 2000; Coburn et al., 2007). A 25-year data from 1985-2009 of the Microbial Diseases Laboratory in California, USA, analyzed by Abbott et al. (2012) indicated that non-intestinal Salmonellosis by subspecies II-IV were most invasive causing diseases with the systemic or bacteremia syndrome, and isolates were from the blood, cervix, urine, cerebrospinal fluid, respiratory



tract, wounds, bile and abscesses of patients. *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *indica* (VI) and *Salmonella bongori* are normally less found in in humans (Abbott *et al.*, 2012). While *Salmonella* Pullorum cause pullorum disease, a sudden systemic infection of young chicken or poults, *Salmonella* Gallinarum cause fowl typhoid, a chronic but can also be acute bacteremia infection in older birds, then *Salmonella* Enteriditis could systemically be transmitted into an egg during its formation in an infected hen, *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *arizonae* are also trans-ova transmitted resulting in the manifestation of neurological signs, reduced egg laying mostly in breeding turkeys infection (Demirbilek, 2018; Gast & Porter, 2020). Some top *Salmonella* serovars identified to cause infections in domestic animals are summarized in Table 2.3 by Heuzenroeder (2000), Foley and Lynne (2007) and Demirbilek (2018).



S/N	Animal species	Salmonella serotypes
1	Domestic fowl	Pullorum, Gallinarum, Enteriditis, Infantis, Typhimurium,
		Kedougou, Montevideo, Senftenberg, Menston, Heidelberg,
		Kentucky, Hadar, some subsp. arizonae
2	Cattla	Dublin Typhimurium Mhandaka Anatum Carro Navynort
L	Cattle	Agona Infantis Montevideo Muenster Kentucky Enteriditis
3	Pigs	Choleraesuis, Typhimurium, Derby, Enteriditis, Typhimurium-
		Copenhagen, Heidelberg, Agona, Senftenberg, Infantis,
		Mbandaka, Worthington, Anatum,
4	Sheep	Abortus ovis, Dublin, Typhimurium, Derby, Arizonae (O61:
		k:1,2,7), Montevideo.
5	Turkeys	Hadar, Senftenberg, Heidelberg, Saintpaul, Typhimurium,
	5	Agona, Montevideo, Muenster, Schwarzengrund, Worthington
6	Ducks	Typhimurium, Enteriditis, Livingstone, Nagoya, Hadar,
		Virchow, Give, London, Indiana, Wangata, Oregon, Lille,
		Infantis, Panama,
7	Horses	Abortus equi Typhimurium Anatum Rostock Hato
,	1101505	Meleagridis, Montevideo, Virchow, Good, Infantis, Newport,
		Vaertan, Derby
8	Cats and Dogs	Typhimurium, Enteriditis, Havana, Infantis, Derby, Javiana,
		Anatum, Agona, Haifa, Berta, Adelaide, II sofia, Thompson,
		Montevideo, Seftenberg, Saintpaul, Ohio, Gloucester, Cerro,
_		Weslaco, Gaminara

Table 2.3: Salmonella serovars identified to cause infections in domestic animals



2.13 Escherichia coli

A Bavarian microbiologist and pediatrician from Munich Germany, Theodor Escherich, in 1885 was working on some infants' mortalities when he first identified the microorganism, *Bacterium coli commune* in the feces of the neonates, in which the bacterium was later designated *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), in recognition of the founder (Taj *et al.*, 2014; Méric *et al.*, 2016), and *coli* because it was found to be harboring the *colon* (Shulman *et al.*, 2007; Tajs *et al.*, 2014). A similar microbe which was known to be causing dysentery, *Bacillus dysentericus*, was in 1897 discovered by the Japanese bacteriologist, Kiyoshi Shiga, then renamed after him as *Shigella dysenteriae* (Blount, 2015), with four subspecies as *Shigella boydii*, *Shigella dysenteriae*, *Shigella flexneri* and *Shigella sonnei* (Belotserkovsky *et al.*, 2018). It is a common commensal in the microbiota of the gut of almost all warm-blooded animals and invariably the most intensively studied and well understood microorganism on earth (Taj *et al.*, 2014; Blount, 2015).

E. coli is a Gram-negative facultative and anaerobic non-spore forming rod-like bacteria belonging to the family Enterobacteriaceae, and can be flagellated or non-flagellated with fimbriae for adhesion to their host surfaces, together with a body dimensions of 0.25μ m-1.0 μ m width and around 2.0 μ m long (Unit *et al.*, 2013; Taj *et al.*, 2014; Smith & Fratamico, 2021). They survive at optimum temperatures of 37°C (Fotadar *et al.*, 2005; Taj *et al.*, 2014), but some mutant pathotypes have been recorded to grow up to a maximum of 49°C and can reproduce while those that grow at highest temperatures of 53°C do not reproduce (Fotadar *et al.*, 2005). At acidic environments of low pH values of below pH 2.0,



E. coli employ metabolic as well physiological mechanism of resistance to enable it survive (Kanjee & Houry, 2013). In a similar study by Hayes *et al.* (2006), *E. coli* multiplication rates are reduced at extreme pHs of 5-6 and 8-9 thereby activating defense mechanisms that sustain the pH balance within the bacteria. The bacteria survives good at an average pH of 7.6 (Hayes *et al.*, 2006).

2.14 E. coli serotypes classifications

E. coli serotypes are grouped according to their O-antigens, which are considered as virulence factors, from their cell membrane lipopolysaccharides (LPS) (Debroy et al., 2011). Another method of classification was later realized to further subtype strains using a mixture of three main membrane antigens; O-antigen: capsule or Kapsel in German language, K-antigen: flagellar H-antigen (O:H:K), but due to labor demand and insufficient laboratories for dealing with the K-antigen, only the O:H combinations are now accepted as the 'gold standard' for their serotyping (Debroy et al., 2011). In the classification of E. coli and other prokaryotes genomically, the bacterial genomes are sequenced using the 16S rRNA amplicons by clustering; if the sequenced clusters amount to a similarity threshold of 97% or more, they are said to be from the same species; a 94% and above genes threshold similarity belong to the same genus (Batista et al., 2002; Lan et al., 2016). E. coli is said to be to be classified into six serogroups as Diffusely adherent Escherichia coli (DAEC), Enteroaggrasive Escherichia coli (EAEC), Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia Escherichia coli (EHEC), Enteroinvasive coli (EIEC), Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) and Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC) (Croxen & Finlay, 2010; Jafari et al., 2012; Smith & Fratamico, 2021). They are also divided into T3SS-dependent serotypes (EPEC, EIEC and EHEC)



and non-T3SS dependent [DAEC, EAEC and ETEC (AIEC and STEAEC)] (Taylor *et al.*, 2012).

2.14.1 Diffusely adherent Escherichia coli (DAEC)

They are so-called (DAEC) because they are known for having a peculiar ability of a diffuse attachment style with the aid of two adhesins, Afa/Dr DAEC and AIDA-I DAEC, on the epithelial surfaces of their hosts (Meza-segura & Estrada-garcia, 2016). As a diarrheagenic pathotype *Escherichia coli*, DAEC was known to be the sixth and last *E. coli* class in 1998 with varying serovars containing virulence genes, Afa/Dr strains, which are responsible for acute diarrhea in infants of less than six months recuring diarrhea in Mexican hospitals; in matured patients, they are identified to cause diarrhea in HIV-positive sufferers from Peru and other Latin Americans, but they could also cause any form of intestinal illness (Meza-segura & Estrada-garcia, 2016). Diarrhea from DAEC is usually watery and persistent especially from children (Cabrera-sosa & Ochoa, 2020); Afa/Dr DAEC strains are also known to cause urinary tract infections (UTIs) and health issues in gestating women (Servin & Servin, 2014).

2.14.2 Enteroaggrasive Escherichia coli (EAEC)

EAEC are defined by this name due to their peculiar ability of aggressively attaching to each other, even forcibly adding other different classes of *E. coli* into a biofilm in a design within the epithelial lining of the intestine (Elias & Navarro-garcia, 2016; Ekici & Dümen, 2019). EAEC is known to infect all age groups, from newborn babies to adults, especially those that are immunologically compromised like HIV positive patients in both developed and developing



countries (Taylor *et al.*, 2012; Elias & Navarro-garcia, 2016; Ekici & Dümen, 2019). EAEC infection results in travelers' diarrhea and recuring slick stools which could sometimes be stained with blood or mucus of patients, and the bacteria is capable of burrowing through the thick mucus layer for attachment onto the intestinal surface with the aid of pAA, aggressive adherence fimbriae (AAF), AggR, SPATE Pic plasmids, flagella and other virulence factors (Croxen & Finlay, 2010; Smith & Fratamico, 2021). Generally, EAEC after establishing in the intestinal area leads to a build of biofilm with mucoid appearance, entero and cytotoxin production (Croxen & Finlay, 2010). There have been scanty data indicating that EAEC is an animal career pathogen consistently infecting human (Taylor *et al.*, 2012).

2.14.3 Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC)

The EHEC is designated this name because their infections in humans results in profuse and hemorrhagic stools from patients, hemorrhagic colitis (HC) and as well hemolytic urinary syndrome (HUS) particularly in infants (Naylor *et al.*, 2005). The bacteria is said to have the virulence plasmid factor, *vtx*, on it, enabling it to produce two types of verocytotoxins (VT); VT1 and VT2, in which VT1 is similar to that produced by *Shigella dysenteriae*, Shiga toxin (STX), and due to this the EHEC is sometimes referred to as Shiga toxin *E. coli* (STEC) (Naylor *et al.*, 2005; Taylor *et al.*, 2015). Coming with various variants including VTII, VTIIc, VTIId, VTIIe and VTIIf, the verocytotoxin V2, is noted for most infections of the bacteria to humans (Naylor *et al.*, 2005). In the advanced world, toxins produced from bacteria are the basis for their classifications and not serotyping, thus they are usually referred to as verotoxin or shiga toxin generating *E. coli*



(VTEC or STEC) (Taylor *et al.*, 2012). Cattle and other animals are said to be carriers or reservoirs of EHEC in many studies (Naylor *et al.*, 2005; Aziz, 2018).

2.14.4 Enteroinvasive Escherichia coli (EIEC)

The EIEC, identified in 1971 (Smith & Fratamico, 2021) which is similar to the dysentery causing bacteria, Shigella dysenteriae, have certain plasmids, pINV (Jafari *et al.*, 2012), like that of the Shigella enabling it to invade and multiply in the epithelia of the intestines leading to irritable infections to the GIT mucosa and submucosa within an incubation period of half a day (Grist et al., 2000). When infection occur, clinical manifestation includes temperature rise, stomach upsets, hemolytic and mucoid liquid diarrhea, painful micturition, differentiating EIEC infection to that of Shigella's dysentery, and all these symptoms are realized due to the interactions between the O antigens from both the EIEC and Shigella (Smith & Fratamico, 2021). Tentatively, patients that have diarrhea with white blood cells presence could be potential candidates of been infected with EIEC (Grist et al., 2000). Infections from EIEC reports are more in developing countries than the more industrialized world; only those who attend medical facilities taking care of patients with EIEC contract the pathogen from developed nations (Grist et al., 2000). Because of their relatedness, antibiotics used for the treatment of Shigella can also equally be used for the cure of EIEC infections as well (Jafari et al., 2012; Lääveri et al., 2018; Smith & Fratamico, 2021).

2.14.5 Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC)

Being the first *diarrheagenic E. coli* (DEC) defined in 1982 (Mare *et al.*, 2021), EPEC is a strain that have the capacity to attach and efface (A/E) the epithelial



surfaces of host intestines causing pathological damages but unable to generate Shiga toxins LT or ST enterotoxins (Mare *et al.*, 2021; Smith & Fratamico, 2021). Their "hallmark of attaching-and-effacing" the host epithelial cells was first defined by Nataro and Kaper in 1998 (Nataro & Kaper, 1998; Mare *et al.*, 2021). EPEC infection within some few hours results in sudden or prolonged slick diarrhea, vomiting, high body temperatures, loss of body moisture, notably in infants of less than 2 years and the infection can become complicated and persistent leading to hospitalization of patients. Reports indicate that EPEC is many times detected in mixed gastro-enteritis, and have been isolated in asymptomatic careers ae well (Mare *et al.*, 2021). Clinical infections are normally self-eliminating but antimicrobials like fluoroquinolone, cephalosporins, penicillin and aminoglycosides are recommended in some cases for treating recuring stools and complications, in which many times there are reported incidences of EPEC exhibiting resistance against these antibiotics (Mare *et al.*, 2021).

2.14.6 Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli (ETEC)

ETEC been discovered in 1968 (Jafari *et al.*, 2012), are known to possess virulence factor fimbriae, colonization factors (CF), enhanced by heat-liable (LT) or heatstable (ST) enterotoxins to enable the bacteria establish in the GIT mucosa (Fleckenstein, 2013). The latest methods of naming indicates this feature as coli surface (CS) antigen even though earlier systems used to designate it as colonization factor antigen I (CFA/I) (Smith & Fratamico, 2021). ETEC is said to contain virulence characters including adhesins, fimbriae structures, CFs and other proteins to enhance its pathogenesis in the GIT and host particularity. ETEC is the major cause of diarrhea in infants and travelers' diarrhea in Asia and tropical



countries where there is limited access to health services and medications and low sanitary practices (Jafari *et al.*, 2012; Taylor *et al.*, 2012). Yearly reported diseases from ETEC with stool relatedness is over 200m patients with nearly 75,000 mortalities basically infants from Sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America where unhygienic health practices are common at 3.5%-20.45% (Ferreira & Martinez, 2016).

2.15 Transmission of Salmonella and E. coli

Both *Salmonella* and *E. coli* are known to naturally be isolated from the GIT of human and animals and intensive relationships between animals and man go a long way to increase the transfer of these pathogens across species (Iovine *et al.*, 2015), and their mode of transfer to human and animals infection is usually the fecal-oral (Cabral, 2010; Taj *et al.*, 2014) even though Heuzenroeder (2000) and Warriss (2000) have reported transmission through the skin and nose respectively. According to Glaize *et al.* (2021), soil is a principal source from which *Salmonella* and *E. coli* can pollute fresh produce from plants and animals during production operations in the farm. *E. coli* and its moieties are used as indicators in the fecal pollution of water and the surrounding (Niyoyitungiye *et al.*, 2020). Mensah *et al.* (2001) in their survey isolated *Salmonella* and other bacteria contaminating fresh vegetables and raw animal meat at Accra. Infections from *Salmonella* and *E. coli* are of public concern as they lead to many diseases including typhoid fever and urinary tract infections (Al-Zubaidy, 2020).



2.16 Human susceptibility to Salmonella and E. coli disease

People who stay in less hygienic environments and also the consumption of contaminated food products like meat, water, vegetables and other plant products make them very vulnerable to foodborne infections from *Salmonella, E. coli* and other microbes (Ekici & Dümen, 2019). Epidemiologically, both bacteria are known to have caused outbreaks of different infections like typhoid fever and hemolytic urinary syndrome (HUS) with varying magnitudes globally (Käferstein, 2003; Foley & Lynne, 2007; Taj *et al.*, 2014). Infections from *Salmonella* (Foley & Lynne, 2007; Dougnon *et al.*, 2017) and *E.coli* (Taylor *et al.*, 2015; Aziz, 2018; Smith & Fratamico, 2021) are clinically observed in infants, the aged and immunologically suppressed patients globally with symptoms including diarrhea, vomiting, HUS or UTI, neurological problems, acute and chronic kidney incapacities, peritonitis etc.

2.17 Salmonella and E. coli occurrence in raw meat

Bacterial contaminations including *Salmonella* and *E. coli* in raw meats from different meat types have been reported (Ali *et al.*, 2010; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016; Bughti *et al.*, 2017) . According to a study by Cohen *et al.* (2007), meat at slaughter stages were contaminated with 1.6% *Salmonella*, 48.4% *E. coli*, 10.4% *Staphylococcus*, 7.2% *Clostridium perfringens* and 0.5% *Listeria monocytogenes*. A report by Adzitey *et al.* (2015) on 240 samples of beef and other similar products collected from Techiman, Ghana, indicated that, the prevalence of *Salmonella* was 57.08% and in a related survey, Adzitey *et al.* (2021) indicated that from 200 RTE meat samples examined from the Upper East region of Ghana, *E. coli* (80%) was detected in raw beef compared to 0% *E. coli* in some RTE meat.



An examination on the contamination of beef and mutton at slaughter houses by Hosseini and Haslberger (2016) at Tehran, Iran, showed that 28% beef and 13% mutton samples were *Salmonella*-contaminated whilst 30% beef and 14% mutton samples revealed to be *E. coli* positive.

2.18 Salmonella and E. coli prevention and control

According to Silva et al. (2014) and Adjei et al. (2022), the one-health-concept is needed for the prevention of Salmonella and E. coli and other microbes from infecting human by reducing or restricting their transfer from food and related products, animals and the immediate surroundings. To produce safe meat for human consumption, there is the need to educate the public through meat handling professionals like veterinary personnel and other meat handlers (Adjei et al., 2022). For the prevention and control of food contamination and subsequent human infections from the two bacteria as well as others, an effective HACCP is also recommended (Green & Kane, 2014). For food contamination to be reduced or controlled, low storage temperatures are required, high temperatures are needed for hot foods; safe and standard packaging materials and recommended levels of chemical sterilizing and cleaning agents are recommended (Nerín et al., 2016). In an investigation at Mauritius, Heetun et al. (2015) indicated that raw poultry meat bought from open retail sources was highly contaminated with bacteria than meat that was gotten from cold meat channels. To prevent and/or control bacterial growth especially in meat, good hygienic practices need to be observed strictly; requiring standardized processing facilities and processing, use of sterilized meat processing equipment, use of high quality meat vans and other acceptable means for carting meat for storage, further processing and sale (Mensah *et al.*, 2001;



Adzitey *et al.*, 2020). The use of tap and other clean water sources which is devoid of microbial contamination for irrigating vegetables and other crops go a long way to prevent and control the level of *Salmonella*, *E. coli* and other bacterial infection through food in the long end (Mensah *et al.*, 2001). Also, effective and the use of clean water and sanitizing chemicals for washing vegetables, the sale of vegetables in more sanitized environments in the market, availability of restrooms, improved personal hygiene of vegetable sellers/handlers all control and prevent *Salmonella* and *E. coli* transmission to man (Mensah *et al.*, 2001). Vaccinating animals with lower doses of 10^3 bacterial etiological agents like *Salmonella* have caused immunity in birds and ruminants by the production of immunoglobulin (IgM) antibodies against any subsequent infections in both human and animals and animal products to promote public health but there have been increasing concerns on the resistance of these bacteria like *Salmonella* and *E. coli* to these antibiotics (Van Den Bogaard & Stobberingh, 2000).

2.19 Antibiotics

The start of the term 'antibiotic' was when Paul Vuillemin in 1890 found microbes producing their individual and varying metabolites, having opposing effects on other different microorganisms, *antibiose*, opposite to symbiosis, which could suppress the growth or cause death of the affected microorganism (Nicolaou & Rigol, 2017). Meanwhile, Maurer (2018) also indicated that 'antibiotic' is coined from Greek language to describe "*against life*". Depending on the antimicrobial effect, it could be *antibacterial*, acts on bacteria; *antifungal*, acts on fungi; *antiprotozoal*, acts on protozoa, etc. (Nicolaou & Rigol, 2017). It has been stated



by Singh *et al.* (2017) that ideally an antibiotic suppresses or destroys the multiplication of all detrimental microbes in a host no matter the predilection place of the microbe in the host, and not disturbing the microbiota in the GIT and the host own body cells. According to Maurer (2018), antibiotics act on the development of a microbe in 3 different forms: *bacteriolysis* – cause the death of the bacteria by breaking its cell wall; *bacteriostasis* – involves growth inhibition through protein limitation into the bacterium; and lastly, *bactericidal action* – cause bacterial death but not breaking that bacterium. According to Walsh (2003), some antibiotics act on Gram-positive whilst others act on Gram-negative bacteria, but some type act on both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria; some also act on just a small number or class of bacteria and are known as narrow spectrum antibiotics, then those acting on many groups or classes of pathogenic bacteria are called broad spectrum antibiotics.

Antibiotics come in two distinct discovery lines; 'natural products', like tetracyclines, teicoplanin, penicillin, cephalosporins, erythromycin, aminoglycosides, which are all products of biological metabolites from microbes, and the second discovery line, 'synthetic products', are those that are not produced by nature but chemicals of synthetic origin, and such antibacterials include sulfa drugs, fluroquinolones, oxazolidinones, etc. (Walsh, 2003). Even though most of the 'natural products' are excess and by-products from bacteria and fungi, majority of antibiotics are metabolic waste from spiral-shaped fungi, actinomycetes and eubacteria, with actinomycetes generating many strong and different antibiotics (Maurer, 2018). Historically, many earlier scientists including Theodor Billroth (1829-1894), Sir John Scott Burden-Sanderson (1828-1905), John Tyndall (1820-



1893), Joseph Lister (1827-1912), Louis Pasteur (1822-1895) all made researches on discovering an antibiotic; but it was finally Alexander Fleming (1881-1955) who in 1929 was officially declared the discoverer of the first ever antibiotic known, Penicillin, and it was from the fungi, *Penicillium notatum*, afterwards known as *Penicillium chrysogenum* and now *Penicillium rubens* (Mohr, 2016). Other subsequent and notable 'natural product' antibiotics are listed in Table 2.4.

Name of Antibiotic	Type of	Name of microbial source
	Microbe	
Penicillin	Fungi	Penicillium notatum
Rugulin	Fungi	Penicillium rugulosum
Hirsutellone B	Fungi	Hirsutella nivea
Platensimycin	Fungi	Streptomyces platensis
Thiostrepton	Fungi	Strep. (azureus, hawaiiensis,
		laurentii)
Vancomycin	Fungi	Nocardia orientalis
Amphotericin B	Fungi	Strep. nodosus
Ansamycin/Rifamycin	Fungi	Amycolatopsis rifamycinica
Indanomycin (Antibiotic X-	Fungi	Strep. antibioticus
14547A)		
Efrotomycin	Fungi	Nocardia lactamdurans

Table 2.4: Some antibiotics and their microbial sour	rce
--	-----

Source: Nicolaou & Rigol (2017)

_



2.20 Benefits and purposes of antibiotics usage

Nicolaou and Rigol (2017) stated that antimicrobials application has evidently increased the life expectancy rate of people after their use against deadly microbial pathogens, even though many pathogenic microbial infections still persist. Antibiotic usage in veterinary practice serve as both a welfare for animals and as well increase meat production for human consumption (Durso & Cook, 2014). According to a survey conducted by Briyne et al. (2014) at 25 EU nations from a total of 3,004 veterinary professional as respondents, it was revealed that, among the five top classes of antibiotics commonly prescribed for treating various diseases in animals, 75% used penicillin, 50% used tetracycline, 49% prescribed fluroquinolones, 21% used 3rd/4th generation cephalosporins and 19% used lincosamides. Antibiotic-like substances, bacteriocins including sakacin, nisin, pentocin, enterocin, etc, which are produced by lactic acid bacteria (LAB) including Enterococcus, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, etc., are known to have antibacterial effects by inhibiting pathogenic bacterial growth most especially on meat during preservation (Costa et al., 2019). In medical practices, antimicrobials, mostly β-lactams, usually of narrow spectrum in action to reduce resistance, are administered mostly as a single dose post-surgery as prophylactic agents to prevent secondary infections (Munckhof et al., 2005).

Orally dosed antibiotics like amoxicillin clavulanate cefixime, cefdinir and ciprofloxacin, or parenterally administered drugs including ampicillin, ceftriaxone, gentamicin, cefotaxime and cefepime are all used to treat urinary tract infections in human (Saadeh & Mattoo, 2011). The most commonly used antibiotics for the treatment of skin infections and acne are macrolides like roxithromycin,



erythromycin and azithromycin; tetracyclines including minocycline or doxycycline; lincosamides e.g., clindamycin, and other antibiotics such as dapsone, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, rifampicin, metronidazole and levofloxacin (Xu & Li, 2019). A study by Ong et al. (2008) stated that tetracyclines, macrolides and penicillin can be prescribed for treating respiratory, UTIs and acute otitis media (AOM) as 'first-choice' or 'second-choice' antimicrobials. Instances of antibiotics and probiotics usage as growth promoters in livestock have been largely reported (Al-Khalaifah, 2018). The continuous, inappropriate and substandard use of antimicrobials in both human and veterinary medications is greatly causing the resistance of pathogenic microbes against such drugs thereby calling for reduction or an outright barn in their applications (Allen et al., 2014). Even though veterinary antibiotics are applied for the health and productions of livestock, the subsequent excretion of these antibiotics in excess through animal droppings into soils for agricultural use alters the soil microbiota or agroecosystem leading to interference in the recycling of nitrogen and carbon and a consequential low yield of agricultural produce (Wepking et al., 2019). Due to increasing reports of resistance of deadly microbes to antibiotics usage, it is necessary to find substitutes like bacteriocin, unconventional bacteria and bacteriophages to avert resistance against target pathogens (Allen et al., 2014).

2.21 Classification of antibiotics

According to Calderón and Sabundayo (2007) and MacGowan *et al.* (2016), antibiotics are also classified on the basis of their molecular structures indicated in Table 2.5.



Antibiotic class	Chemical structure	Examples	Suffix	
Amphenicols	p-nitrophenyl, N-dichloroacetyl, 1,3-	Chloramphenicol, Fluoramphenicol,	-col	
	propanediol	Thiamphenicol		
Tetracyclines	4 Hydrocarbon rings	Tetracycline, Chlortetracycline, Minocycline,	-cycline	
(1 st -3 rd) generation	(4-tetracyclic ring)			
Glycylcycline	9-dimethylglycylamido (DMG) group	Tigecycline	-cycline	
Fluroquinolones/ Quinolones	Nalidixic acid	Ciprofloxacin, Ofloxacin, levofloxacin,	-oxacin	
(1 st -4 th generations)		temafloxacin		
Aminoglycosides	3-amino sugars – glycosidic bonds	Gentamicin, Tobramycin Neomycin, Amikacin	-micin	
Oxazolidinones	Linezolid, tedizolid phosphate	Cadazolid, Radezolid, Posizolid, Sutezolid		
		Linezolid, Tedizolid	-zolid	
Glycopeptides	Heptapeptide linkages	Vancomycin, Balhimycin, Chloroeremomycin		
		Teicoplanin		
Streptogramins	Polyunsaturated macrolactones:	Pristinamycin, Madumycin, Virginiamycin		
	Hexadepsipeptides	(Staphylomycin)		
Cyclic lipopeptides	Fatty acid – oligopeptide macrocyclic ring	Daptomycin (Cubicin), Fruilimicin,		
		Ramoplanin, Empedopeptin, Polymyxin		
Sulphonamides/	Sulfanilamide	Sulfisoxazole, Sulfapyridine, Sulfadoxine,		
Sulfonamides		Sulfadiazine,		
Macrolides	Macrocyclic lactose ring	Azithromycin, Erythromycin, clarithromycin	-mycin	
Ketolides	Erythronolide ring-ketone bond	Telithromycin (ABT-773, HMR-3004, HMR-		
		3562, HMR-3787)		
Beta-Lactams (3-Carbon, 1-Nitrogen ring, beta-lactam ring)				
Penicillin	6-aminopenicillanic acid	Penicillin G, Piperacillin, Ticarcillin,	-cillin	
		Amoxicillin, Oxacillin, Bacampicillin		
Cephalosporin	7-aminocephalosporanic acid	Cephradine, Cefuroxime, Ceftriaxone,		
$(1^{st}-5^{th})$ generations		Cefepime		
Monobactam	Monocyclic beta-lactam	Aztreonam, Carumonam, Tigemonam		
Carbapenems	Clavulanic acid	Imipenem, Meropenem, Ertapenem		

Table 2.5: Classifications of antibiotics

43

2.22 Antibiotics commonly used for human and animal treatment

According to Almeida et al. (2014), in Portugal the cumulative and comparative yearly use of antibiotics for both human and animals' disease treatment were ranked as "65% penicillin, 13% quinolones, 7% macrolides, 6% cephalosporins and 5% sulphonamides. In a similar study by Amponsah et al. (2021) in Ghana, where total antimicrobial use for medication in hospitals were observed to be 60.5% "penicillin, 48.7%, cephalosporins 23.5%, fluoroquinolones 17.4%, lincosamides 4.4%, aminoglycosides 2.6%, macrolides 1.7% and nitroimidazoles 1.7%". Also from Ghana, Adeapena et al. (2021) indicated in their 5years (2013-2019) of data from the Kintampo North Municipal Veterinary Clinic that antibiotics used for treating 513 animals (71.9% dogs, 13.1% goats, 11.1% sheep, 1.2% cats, 1% cattle, 0.6% chicken, 0.6% pigs, 0.4% rabbits and 0.2% monkeys), tetracycline use was 99.6% and penicillin 0.4%. Another study on types of antibiotics used among pig farms in the Ashanti Region of Ghana documented the various antibiotics used by farms and farmers as follows: tetracyclines (59%), penicillin-streptomycin (44%), sulfadimidine (29%), enrofloxacin (+ norfloxacin) (9%), metronidazole (6%), tylosin (6%), erythromycin (5%), gentamicin (4%), trimethoprim (4%) and amoxicillin (2%) for treating skin rashes, watery feces and coughs in pigs (Osei-Sekyere, 2014).

2.22.1 Amoxicillin

Known to be a broad spectrum antibiotic for treating many different diseases, Kaur *et al.* (2011) indicated that, amoxicillin is among the class of beta-lactams belonging to the penicillin groups, and as a member of the aminopenicillins they were the first



known members to kill both Gram+ and G- bacteria like *Staphylococcus pyogenes*, *Clostridium spp., E. coli, Salmonella spp.* and *Shigella spp.* (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007). Amoxicillin is indicated for the treatment of acute otitis media (AOM), respiratory infections like pneumonia, bronchitis, laryngitis, UTIs and endocarditis (Kaur *et al.*, 2011). Although amoxicillin is indicated for the treatment of varying infections, some moderate harm or adverse effects from its use like skin rashes, diarrhea, abdominal aches, etc. have been reported (Loke & Mattishent, 2014).

2.22.2 Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid

This antibiotic, which is a semi-synthetic type, is an amoxicillin proportionally formulated with clavulanic acid in the ratio of amoxicillin 2:1 clavulanic acid (Ball, 2007). As a result of merging with the clavulanic acid, amoxicillin-clavulanate has a broader spectrum of its antibacterial activity especially against beta-lactamase-producing enzymes such as *E. coli, Moraxella catarrhalis, Neisseria gonorrhea, Proteus mirabilis, Streptococcus pneumoniae, Hemophilus influenza*, etc. compared to amoxicillin alone (Ball, 2007). Amoxicillin-clavulanate is indicated for the treatment of UTIs, respiratory tract infections (RTIs), skin and soft tissues infections (SSTIs), prophylaxis of post-surgical operations, gynecological infections, abdominal infections, etc. (Ball, 2007; Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; Geddes *et al.*, 2007). It is worth noting that the use of amoxicillin-clavulanic acid could come with adverse effects such as a feeling of throwing-up, vomiting, watery stool, anaphylactic shock, skin rashes, allergy, improper circulatory functioning, nervous reactions like



hallucinations, but which can be restored following stop in medication (Ball, 2007; Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007).

2.22.3 Azithromycin

As a semi-synthetic antibiotic with other members like clarithromycin, dirthromycin, erythromycin, erythromycin estolate, azithromycin is a macrolide which is structurally made of a macrocyclic lactose ring (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007). As a way of exerting its antimicrobial activity, azithromycin interfere with the gathering and binding of 50S ribosomal units and peptide chains (Echeverría-esnal et al., 2020), in a bacteriostatic effect, but could also be bactericidal depending on the microbe and concentration of the antibiotic (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007). Azithromycin is very effective against certain Gram-negative microbes including E. coli, Moraxella catarrhalis, Shigella, Hemophilus pneumoniae, Salmonella, etc. but weak against Gram+ prokaryotes (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; Parnham et al., 2014). It has also been active against protozoa like Toxoplasma gondii, Plasmodium spp., Cryptosporidium spp., and Chlamydia such as Chlamydia trachomatis (Bakheit & Alhadiya, 2014). Azithromycin is indicated for the treatment of RTIs, ear infections, SSTIs, STDs, Helicobacter pylori-related duodenal ulcer infection, mild typhoid, prophylaxis of dental surgeries patients who have historical heart-related challenges (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; Bakheit & Al-hadiya, 2014). Side effects of azithromycin include diarrhea, vomiting, dizziness, tongue color change, stomach ache, insomnia, interstitial nephritis, disruption in olfaction and taste, hepatitis, etc. (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; Bakheit & Al-hadiya, 2014).



2.22.4 Ceftriaxone

Ceftriaxone is a half-synthetic cephalosporin against a wide range of both Gram+ and Gram- bacteria including *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus pyogenes*, *E. coli*, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Neisseria meningitidis* etc. (Khan *et al.*, 2017). Because ceftriaxone have similar characteristic of antibacterial activity to other 3rd and 4th generation cephalosporins as being able to go deep into the CNS, it has been indicated in multiple occasions as the best antibiotic of choice for treating meningitis, both in children and adults (Lamb *et al.*, 2002; Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; Khan *et al.*, 2017). It has also been favored for the treatment of "community-acquired pneumonia (CAP)", SSTIs, AOM, STDs like gonorrhea, acute pyelonephritis notably in pregnant ladies, typhoid fever, as a prophylactic medication in wounds post any surgical operation (Lamb *et al.*, 2002; Khan *et al.*, 2017). Adverse effects from the use of ceftriaxone are rare but moderately reported symptoms include diarrhea and GIT disturbances, nausea, rashes, head ache, candidiasis, dizziness, anemia, leucopenia, phlebitis, etc. (Lamb *et al.*, 2002).

2.22.5 Chloramphenicol

It is a synthetic broad spectrum antibiotic and was discovered in 1947 from the fungus *Streptomyces venezuelae* and it is predominantly a bacteriostatic agent (Balbi & Balbi, 2014; Hanekamp & Bast, 2015). Chloramphenicol is an amphenicol with a chemical composition of p-nitrophenyl, N-dichloroacetyl, 1,3-propanediol and is active against a wide range of Gram+ and Gram- bacteria like *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*, *Hemophilus influenzae*, *Salmonella spp.*, *Neisseria*



meningitidis, Histophilus somnus, etc.; rickettsia, spirochetes and chlamydia (Balbi & Balbi, 2014). Adverse side effects from chloramphenicol use are bone marrow suppression, hemolytic anemia, cardiovascular collapse or "gray baby syndrome", head ache, mental confusion/depression, glossitis, stomatitis, nausea, diarrhea, hypersensitivity and ototoxicity (Balbi & Balbi, 2014; Hanekamp & Bast, 2015).

2.22.6 Ciprofloxacin

Discovered around 1980s among other similar antibiotics like enoxacin, lomefloxacin, temafloxacin, etc. as "second generation" fluoroquinolones/quinolones, ciprofloxacin is chemically made of nalidixic acid (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007). According to Conley et al. (2018), ciprofloxacin and as well other quinolones mechanism of antibacterial activity is by disrupting the enzymes "DNA gyrase and DNA topoisomerase" of bacteria like Mycobacteria spp. from linking two DNA strands for the bacterium metabolism, hence seizing its growth. Ciprofloxacin comparatively among other quinolones has been active (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007) against a wide range of some Gram+ and Gram- bacteria like Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Neisseria gonnorhoeae, Moraxella catarrhalis, Acinetobacter baumanii, Hemophilus influenzae, E. coli, Stenophotromonas maltophilia, etc. (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; Sharma et al., 2010; Vidyavathi & Srividya, 2018). Ciprofloxacin is effective for the treatment of "Crohn's Disease" (inflammatory bowel disease with abdominal pain, diarrhea, emaciation, weight loss) (Arnold et al., 2002), UTIs, skin and skin structure infections (SSSIs), typhoid fever, bone and joint infections, infectious diarrhea, acute sinusitis, chronic bacterial infections, urethral gonorrhea, acute uncomplicated cystitis



in females, pyelonephritis and diverticulitis or colon infections (Sharma *et al.*, 2010; Conley *et al.*, 2018; Vidyavathi & Srividya, 2018). The use of ciprofloxacin come with the following side effects: CNS (confusion, dizziness, hallucinations, nightmares, insomnia; Eye (blurred vision, irritation, redness of eyes, sensitivity to light); GIT (taste perversion, nausea, constipation, flatulence, stomach ache, dysphagia, pseudomembranous colitis); Skin (rashes, "Stevens-Johnson syndrome', erythema, exfoliative dermatitis); Musculoskeletal system (tendon rupture, myalgia, tendinitis); Hepatic system (hepatic necrosis, jaundice), etc. (Arnold *et al.*, 2002; Sharma *et al.*, 2010; Conley *et al.*, 2018; Vidyavathi & Srividya, 2018).

2.22.7 Gentamicin

It is a semisynthetic broad-spectrum antibiotic of the aminoglycoside group of antibacterials and a precursor (Gentamicin B) for isepamicin (Ban *et al.*, 2019). Gentamicin and other aminoglycosides application against Gram-negative bacteria data is extensively available while that of Gram+ bacteria data is scanty, and in particular, gentamicin has shown varying and encouraging "killing profiles" against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* indicating an emphatic activity against staphylococcal diseases in particular (Tam *et al.*, 2006). It is also effective against infections caused by Gram-negative bacilli such as *E. coli, Salmonella spp.* and *Shigella spp.* (MacGowan *et al.*, 2016). Due to the less resistance threshold of community and hospital acquired Gram-negative infectious bacteria, gentamicin is the drug of choice against many Gram-negative pathogenic agents (Moulds *et al.*, 2010). Having a synergy with beta-lactams medication, gentamicin like any other



aminoglycoside is indicated for treating cystic fibrosis, upper respiratory tract diseases, glandular tularemia, "Meniere's Disease or vertigo", cell and tissue culture (Kumar & Dubois, 2008). Even though gentamicin is known to be good therapeutically, its overdose or long-term use could lead to ototoxicity or nephrotoxicity (Kumar & Dubois, 2008; Ban *et al.*, 2019).

2.22.8 Sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim

Sulfamethoxazole and it's other members including sulfadiazine, sulfapyridine, sulfisoxazole and sulfadoxine, is a synthetic antimicrobial agent belonging to the sulfonamide class of antibiotics which chemically contain the active ingredient sulfanilamide (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; MacGowan et al., 2016). Sulfamethoxazole or trimethoprim individually suppresses the growth of bacteria but become lethal when synergically used together by Sulfamethoxazole disrupting the enzyme, inserting para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) inside the pro-folic acid, dihydrofolic acid, while trimethoprim suppresses the enzyme, dihydrofolate reductase, which converts folic acid to folinic acid during prokaryotic and a mammals' DNA construction (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007). Cotrimoxazole have been effective against a broad-spectrum of either Gram-negative/positive bacteria such as many Enterobacteriaceae (including E. coli, Salmonella, Klebsiella, etc.), Nocardia spp., Chlamydia trachomatis, Burkholderia spp., Pseudomonas spp. excluding P. aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus, Listeria spp., Shigella spp., Stenotrophomonas maltophilia, Hemophilus influenzae, and some protozoa like Toxoplasma gondii (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007; Livermore et al., 2013). Cotrimoxazole is



recommended for the treatment of SSTIs notably of group A Streptococcus (GAP) or *Staphylococcus aureus*, impetigo (a contagious skin infection of infants, reddish sores on face, nose, feet and hands), septicemia, purulent cellulitis, bacillary dysentery, some UTIs, tonsilitis, and abscesses (MacGowan *et al.*, 2016; Bowen *et al.*, 2017). It has been indicated that Sulfamethoxazole and other sulfonamides are active against some tumorous cells (Vullo & Supuran, 2013; MacGowan *et al.*, 2016). Sulfamethoxazole-Trimethoprim also treats infections of the upper respiratory tract like otitis, bronchitis and infections of the GIT (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007). A study by Karpman and Kurzrock (2004) showed that side effects of cotrimoxazole use for treatment is more evidently observed in the aged already having comorbidities; infants scarcely exhibit any adverse effect, and the common side effects symptoms are abdominal disturbances, blood-related toxicity, rashes.

2.22.9 Tetracycline

Tetracyclines are effective against a wide array of both Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria like *Bartonella quintana, Bacillus anthracis, Francisella tularensis, E. coli, Yersinia pestis, Brucella spp., etc.; chlamydia* such as *Chlamydia trachomatis, C. pneumoniae, C. psittaci; mycoplasmas* including *Mycoplasma pneumoniae, etc; rickettsia* such as *Rickettsia monteiroi, R. andeaneae, R. bellii, R. canadensis, etc.* and *protozoan parasites* like *Plasmodium falciparum, Toxoplasma gondii, Gardia lamblia* and *Trichomonas vaginalis* (Roberts, 2003). Tetracycline and its analogs like omadacycline, eravacycline, tigecycline, minocycline, etc., have been indicated for treating complicated SSTIs, "community acquired bacteria pneumonia (CABP)",



intricate GIT infections, "diabetic foot infections" and hospital acquired pneumonia (Roberts, 2003; Grossman, 2016). Note that tigecycline is restricted to only intravenous route of administration (Grossman, 2016). They are also used for the treatment of malaria in humans and for prophylaxis or growth promoters in animals (Roberts, 2003). According to Brivne et al. (2014), in Europe, tetracycline was prescribed for treating 19% of respiratory diseases, 16% of uterine infections, 4% of other diseases conditions and 24% of prophylaxis in bovine; 47% of respiratory infections and 12% of other infections in porcine; 7% of respiratory infections, 5% of skin infections, 16% of unidentified source of fever, 10% of movement disorder in equine, and 50% of respiratory infections in feline. A study conducted by Hamilton and Guarascio (2019) indicated that among all the tetracyclines, minocycline has the most reported adverse side effects upon therapeutic dosage; but the general side effects of all tetracyclines are rashes on face, mouth, and tongue; erythema, pruritic rash on penis, rashes on body extremities including fingers and feet, edema, balanitis, convulsion, dizziness, tachycardia, hives, generalized urticaria, wheezing, dyspnea and fever.

2.23 Places antimicrobials are obtained for human and animal use and their types

According to Aslam *et al.* (2020), many of the public from low and middle income countries who indulge in self-medication of antibiotics (SMA) usage obtain their drugs from pharmacists, drug retailors, family members, friends, left-over of previously effective medications, private health facilities, corner stores and street vendors. In a



survey by Russom *et al.* (2021), the study population who had their prescription from certified healthcare practitioner were 88.1%; those who practice selfа medication/treatment without a health practitioner's prescription obtained their antibiotics from drug retail outlets (83.6%), left-over drugs (5.2%), family/friends (4.5%), abroad (3.0%), health facility (2.9%) and 1.1% cannot remember their source of medication. A survey report by Afari-Asiedu et al. (2020) from Kintampo North and South Districts of Ghana health professionals comprising medical doctors, pharmacists, physician assistants, nurses/midwives, dispensing technicians from both public and private healthcare facilities, licensed/over-the-counter chemical sellers, all indicated the misuse and self-medication of antibiotics by the public for treating infections like boils, diarrhea, abdominal aches, gonorrhea and head pains. Antibiotics commonly prescribed by these healthcare practitioners for treatments were amoxicillin, chloramphenicol, tetracycline and metronidazole (Afari-Asiedu et al., 2020). The source farmers obtain antibiotics for treating their animals include veterinarians (50.7%), veterinary drug outlets (20.8%), family/friends (14.4%), open market areas (14.3%), left-over drugs (5.7%) and others (1.0%) (Russom *et al.*, 2021). Antibiotics used for treating animals were amoxicillin (44.1%), oxytetracycline (36.2%) then penicillin (16.3%) (Russom et al., 2021). In a similar study from the Kintampo Municipal Veterinary clinic, where only certified professionals operate, tetracycline was 99.6% used whilst penicillin use was 0.4% for treatment of animals (Adeapena *et al.*, 2021).

2.24 Antibiotic resistance



Antibiotics exert their effect on bacterial cell membranes or cell walls (glycopeptides & beta-lactams); protein synthesis with ribosomes (aminoglycosides, chloramphenicol, lincozids, macrolides and tetracyclines); nucleic acid synthesis (fluoroquinolones) and metabolic process (sulfonamides) preventing the bacterial growth, or total death (Sengupta et al., 2013). However, microbes develop strategies or assays of genes (plasmids), proteins or enzymes to invade (e.g. inactivate, modify, protect its enzymes) these antibiotics "by weakening the interaction between the antibiotic and the microorganism" and this phenomenon is known as "antibiotic resistance" (Costa et al., 2011). The resistance of antibiotics to some bacteria could also be due to gene mutation of the microbe, like GenB1 amplifying the DNA of Micromonospora echinospora against gentamicin (Ban et al., 2019). According to Larsson (2022), antibiotics resistance is been considered a worldwide concern with microbes and their genes moving between living things and their surroundings, and antibiotic resistance control is even getting worse as microbes obtain novel resistance elements from other species they interact with. Maurer (2018) stated that the prominence of antibiotics resistance in the bacterial community is bringing about serious health and monitory impact to both the public and the livestock industry. It has been found that the deletion of G942 from E. coli numbering leads to tetracycline resistance (Grossman, 2016). The production of enzymes especially by some Gramnegative bacteria like E. coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae producing NDM-1 (New Delhi metallo-beta-lactamase) is known to confer multi-drug resistance to every betalactam antibiotic known. The beta-lactamases: penicillinase, from Gram-positive bacteria Gonococcus spp., Staphylococcus spp., and Hemophillus influenzae;



cephalosporinase from Gram-positive bacteria like *Enterococcus spp., Staphylococcus spp.* and *Streptococcus spp.*, and some Gram-negative bacteria such as *Proteus mirabilis, E. coli* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* are both known to cause antibiotic resistance in penicillin-resistant and cephalosporin-resistant bacteria, respectively (Calderón & Sabundayo, 2007).

2.25 Mechanisms of antibiotics resistances

Bacteria have developed a number of mechanisms to enable them counter threats in and around their surroundings for their survival and existence (Munita & Arias, 2016). While some bacteria mostly produce enzymes (e.g. beta-lactamases from Gramnegatives), others modify binding sites [e.g. penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) of Gram-positive beta-lactams] of genes for resistance to occur (Munita & Arias, 2016). The occurrence of antibiotics resistance is alarming; for instance, from some nations in Europe, a study by Grossman (2016) on tetracycline resistance alone was 66.9% against ESBL-producing *E.coli*.

To achieve resistance against antimicrobials, bacteria adjust to two methods of combat: horizontal gene transfer (HGT) of resistant DNA for the bacteria; and bacterial genes mutations (Munita & Arias, 2016). From the three ways of HGT (transformation, transduction and conjugation), transformation, the easiest and seen in only few bacteria (Munita & Arias, 2016), involves the use of integrons [being mobile genetic elements (MGEs)] which are plasmids on a bacterial chromosome, are responsible for the insertions and deletions of resistant genes in bacteria (Foley & Lynne, 2007). Biofilm is also another good source of DNA material for antimicrobial


resistance of many pathogenic bacteria (Davies, 2003). In the transduction of HGT, the genes which may be resistant are transferred through "bacterial viruses" like bacteriophages; from the "donor bacterial cell to the recipient cell". According to documentations from, Frost *et al.* (2005), Foley and Lynne (2007) and Munita and Arias (2016), HGT conjugation is achieved through the "cell-to-cell" "sexing" (by the aid of pilus- 'brush-like' appendage on the DNA surface) of transconjugants or a donor and a recipient by a conjugative transposons which then pump the resistant MGE from one side (the donor) into the other (the recipient).

Enzyme production by most Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria makes changes or modifications, or total destruction of the antibiotic stopping it from reaching its target site of action, which in many cases is at the ribosome where protein synthesis occurs (Wilson, 2014). Enzymes are capable of destroying the antibiotic compound by breaking the bonds as seen in beta-lactam rings by beta-lactamase like penicillinase (Poirel *et al.*, 2007). Some Gram-negative bacteria like *Enterobacter cloacae*, *E. coli*, *Salmonella* Typhimurium and Enteritidis, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Shigella dysenteriae*, etc., contain in their outer membrane a protein, porin (a water-loaded unobstructed path around the external membrane), which regulates the influx of water-loving substances including some quinolones, tetracyclines, beta-lactams into the cell leading to the bacteria resistance against such antibiotics (Munita & Arias, 2016; Pagès *et al.*, 2008). The characterization of porins is on the basis of their regulation and expression, their activity (specific, non-specific or selective) and their functional structure (trimeric or monomeric); *E. coli* in



particular have three main trimeric porins as OmpF (outer membrane protein F), OmpC then PhoE, with OmpC and OmpF members having little affinity for cations whilst PhoE prefer inorganic phosphate anions (Pagès *et al.*, 2008). Some bacteria have developed efflux-mediated resistance systems to extrude poisonous compounds including antibiotics like carbapenems, quinolones, tetracyclines, polymyxins, and disinfectants, bile salts, dyes, etc. out of the bacteria cell cytoplasm (Poole, 2005; Munita & Arias, 2016). The first ever efflux-mediated mechanism of ressistance was seen on *E. coli* showing resistance to tetracycline, *tet* genes of the MF family, many of these genes, tet(A-E), *G*, *H*, *I*, *J*, *Z*, all from Gram-negative bacteria and only tet(K) and tet(L) found in Gram-positive bacteria (Poole, 2005).

2.26 Salmonella and E. coli as antibiotic resistance indicators

Samples from nine broiler chicken farms in British Colombia indicated the prevalence of antibiotic resistance indicator genes bla_{CMY-2} in both *E. coli* (80.0%) and *Salmonella* (81.5%) isolates; *tetA* and *tetB* genes, showing resistance against tetracyclines; class 1 integrons (with *aadA1* gene cassette contain resistance against spectinomycin and streptomycin); *qacEA1-Sul1*, a multi-antibiotic resistant gene; were all found in some *E. coli* isolates (Diarrassouba *et al.*, 2007). Both *E. coli* and *Salmonella* isolates exhibited resistance against clindamycin, erythromycin, penicillin, novobiocin and tylosin with many of the *tetB* resistant *E. coli* isolates being from feed with salinomycin pre-included as growth promoter antibiotic (Diarrassouba *et al.*, 2007). *Salmonella* isolates collected from humans, animals and the environment comprising 35 phenotypes revealed that with the exception of only five (5) serovars,



the remaining (30 strains) exhibited some level of antibiotics resistance to the nine (9) antimicrobials used; tetracycline, gentamicin, streptomycin, chloramphenicol, sulfadiazine, kanamycin, trimethoprim, spectinomycin and ampicillin (Randall *et al.*, 2004). From the work of Hassan (2014) on poultry layers at a farm in Bangladesh, it was reported that all 13 *E. coli* isolates showed resistance against Ciprofloxacin (100%), Enrofloxacin (100%), Pefloxacin (100%), Tetracycline (100%), Amoxicillin (85%), Kanamycin (69%), Doxycycline (54%), Colistin (54%), Neomycin (23%) and Gentamicin (0%); whilst all 8 *Salmonella* isolates were resistant against Amoxicillin (100%), Tetracycline (100%), Ciprofloxacin (88%), Enrofloxacin (88%), Pefloxacin (88%), Colistin (50%), Doxycycline (50%), Kanamycin (50%), Gentamicin (0%) and Neomycin (0%).

2.27 Antibiotics resistance prevalence in E. coli and Salmonella

Isolates of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* from broilers in Malaysia showed in totality that, 51.8% and 6.5% respectively of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* were resistant against at least nine (9) antibiotics, but individual *E. coli* and *Salmonella* were correspondingly resistant against ampicillin (87.0% and 47.7%), cephalothin (11.0% and 0.0%), chloramphenicol (84.5% and 76.2%), ciprofloxacin (23.8% and 4.8%), colistin sulphate (0.0% and 0.0%), erythromycin (100.0% and 100.0%), gentamicin (20.2% and 0.0%), kanamycin (57.0% and 28.6%), nalidixic acid (60.7% and 9.6%), streptomycin (66.0% and 19.0%), sulfamethoxazole/trimethoprim (83.3% and 42.9%) and tetracycline (94.6% and 62.0%) (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2021). From Thailand, isolates of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* from abattoirs, poultry and pig farms, and human excreta



indicated that these bacteria (*E. coli* and *Salmonella*), respectively exhibited resistance against the following antibiotics: ampicillin (61.6% and 13.6%); ceftiofur (4.9% and 3.4%); ceftriaxone (1.5% and 0.0%); ciprofloxacin (12.5% and 0.0%); enrofloxacin (1.5% and 0.0%); florfenicol (51.8% and 18.6%); nalidixic acid (67.4% and 27.1%) and tetracycline (91.5% and 84.7%) (Hanson *et al.*, 2002). In Egypt, isolates of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* from fresh beef and chicken from some slaughter slabs and meat retail outlets revealed respectively that *E. coli* and *Salmonella* exhibited in a reverse and complexity of resistance percentages against ampicillin (71.4% and 86.7%), cefotaxime (33.3% and 80.0%), cefpodoxime (23.8% and 60.0%), streptomycin (61.9% and 26.0%), sulphamethoxazole-trimethoprim (61.9% and 53.3%) and tetracycline (80.9% and 40.0%) (Moawad *et al.*, 2017).

2.28 Multidrug resistance of E. coli and Salmonella

Multidrug resistance occur when bacteria become resistant to more than one antibiotic aided primarily by the buildup of many resistant genes (plasmids) on a single bacterial cell and secondly with efflux pump genes which expel a spectrum of antimicrobial agents and other elements out of the bacterial cell cytoplasm (Nikaido, 2009). The sources for these genes or plasmids (R) causing this multiple drug resistance are from many cases the soil, decomposing organic materials and antibiotic-resistant microorganisms (Nikaido, 2009; Munita & Arias, 2016), and are usually transferred into the bacteria through any of the three methods; transduction, conjugation and transformation (Munita & Arias, 2016).



In the work of antibiotic resistance of bacterial isolates from beef and chicken from Egypt, it was observed that *E. coli* exhibited multidrug resistance to twelve (12) antibiotics namely AMC-AMP-CAZ-CHL-CIP-CRO-CTX-ENR-NAL-STR-TET-S/T; that of Salmonella resistance profile was AMC,-AMP-CAZ-CHL-CRO-CTX-ENR-NAL-STR-TET-S/T (Moawad et al., 2017). When E. coli and Salmonella were isolated from vegetables in Tamale, Ghana, the E. coli isolates exhibited some resistance against at least 3 (three) of the 9 (nine) antibiotics, an E. coli isolate was resistant to 6 (six) antibiotics with the profile CroAmpTeOfxEC, with a multidrug resistance (MDR) index of 0.67; as for Salmonella, a resistant isolate showed resistance against at least 2 (two) and at most 7 (seven) antibiotics with the longest pattern being CroAmpTeOfxECSxt (Ceftriaxone, Ampicillin, Tetracycline, Ofloxacin, Erythromycin, Chloramphenicol and Sulphamethoxazole-trimethoprim), and MDR index of 0.78 (Adzitey, 2018). Also, E. coli and Salmonella isolates from broiler farms in Malaysia indicated that the E. coli were resistant to at least three (3) and a maximum of ten (10) antibiotics; Salmonella isolates were resistant to at least three (3) or at most resistant to eight (8) of the twelve (12) antibiotics used (Ibrahim et al., 2021). In Accra Ghana, E. coli isolates from raw meat revealed that an isolate could be multiple resistant to as low as three (3) or as high as five (5) when eleven (11)antibiotics were used in the antibiotic's resistance survey (Dsani et al., 2020), while in a similar study with isolates of Salmonella obtained from veterinary and human laboratories in the UK stated that a Salmonella isolate could exhibit multidrug resistance to at least two (2) or maximum seven (7) from the nine (9) antibiotics screened (Randall et al., 2004).



CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study area

This research was conducted in Buipe, the administrative capital of the Central Gonja District Assembly in the Savannah Region of Ghana. According to Ghana Statistical Service (2023), the district covers a land size of 8,353km² and has a population of 142,762, with 71,635 (50.2%) being males and 71,127 (49.8%) being females. The district lies between longitude 1° 5' and 2 °58' West and latitude 8°32' and 10°2' North, and shares boundaries to the north with the Tamale Metropolitan Assembly, to the south with the Kintampo North Municipal Assembly, to the West with the West Gonja District Assembly, to the North East with North Gonja District Assembly, and to the East with the North East Gonja District Assembly (Ghana Statistical Service, 2014; Ghana Statistical Service, 2023). Figure 3.1 shows the map of Central Gonga District indicating Buipe where this study was carried out.





Figure 3.1: Map of Central Gonja Source: Ghana Statistical Service (GSS, 2014)

3.2 Sample collection for isolation of Salmonella enterica and E. coli

A total of 180 (90/season) raw meat swab samples comprising thirty (n=30) each of beef, chevon and mutton were collected from five each of the three different meat type butchers (15 butchers in all) in the dry and rainy seasons. Dry season samples were taken between February-April 2023, while that of rainy season were collected from August-October 2023. For each season, meat swab samples were taken repeatedly from the same butchers for three consecutive months, twice from every randomly selected butcher for any meat type, every month at two weeks interval. Purposive



sampling was used to select the butchers; however, simple random sampling was employed to collect meat swab samples from the butchers.

The samples were transported on ice in an ice chest containing ice block to the Bruce Hunter Microbiology Laboratory at the University for Development Studies, Nyankpala campus where microbiological analyses were carried out for *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* immediately upon reaching the laboratory.

3.3 Isolation of Salmonella enterica

This was carried out according to the method of Wallace and Hammack (2013). Sterile cotton swabs were used to swab an area of 10 cm² of the various meats. The swabs were pre-enriched in 10 ml Buffered Peptone Water (BPW) and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. After which, 0.1 ml of the BPW aliquots were transferred into 10 ml Selenite Cystine (SC) and Rappaport Vassilidis (RV) broths. The samples in SC broths were incubated at 37 °C for 24 - 48 hours while those in RV broths were incubated at 41 °C for 24 - 48 hours. Thereafter, samples (10 µl) from both RV and SC broths were streaked onto Xylose Lysine Deoxycholate (XLD) and Brilliant Green (BG) agars, and incubated at 37 °C for 24 - 48 hours. Presumptive *Salmonella* species appeared as red colonies on XLD agar with or without black centers, while it appeared as pinkish-white or red colonies were streaked on Trypticase Soy Agar and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours and confirmed using Gram stain (Gram negative rod shaped), *Salmonella* latex agglutination test kit (by coagulation) and polymerase chain reaction.



All the media used were purchased from Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke, UK and all incubations were done under aerobic conditions.

3.4 Isolation of Escherichia coli (E. coli)

This was carried out according to the method of Feng *et al.* (2020). Sterile cotton swabs were used to swab an area of 10 cm^2 of the various meats. The swabs were preenriched in 10 ml Buffered Peptone Water (BPW) and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. After which they were streaked on Levine's Eosin-methylene Blue Agar and incubated at 37 °C for another 24 hours. Presumptive *E. coli* colonies appeared as dark centered and flat, with or without metallic sheen. Presumptive *E. coli* were streaked unto Trypticase Soy Agar and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. They were then identified and initially confirmed using Gram stain (Gram negative rod shaped), *E. coli* latex agglutination test kit (by coagulation) and polymerase chain reaction. All the media used were purchased from Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke, UK and all incubations were done under aerobic conditions.

3.5 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the confirmation of *Salmonella* and *E. coli*

3.5.1 Extraction of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)

Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) was extracted from *Salmonella* and *E. coli* colonies that were freshly grown. The freshly grown colonies transferred into 30 µl Dnase/Rnase Free Water and incubated at 99 °C for 10 min in peqSTAR 96X Universal thermal cycler (VWR Prelab, UK). The incubated lysates were used as DNA template for the PCR.



3.5.2 Confirmation of Salmonella and Escherichia coli isolates by PCR

The confirmation of *Salmonella* was done using a slightly modified method of Bej *et al.* (1991), while that of *E. coli* was done using a slightly modified method of Upadhyay *et al.* (2010). The same PCR mixture (20 µl) was used for both *Salmonella* and *E. coli*. The mixture was made up of 10 µM each of primers as shown in Table 3.1, 22 mM NH₄Cl, 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.9 at 25 °C), 1.8 mM MgCl₂, .06 % IGEPAL[®] CA-630, 5 % glycerol, 0.2 mM dNTPs, xylene Cyanol FF, 00.05 % Tween-20, Tartrazine, 0.25U One *Taq*[®] DNA polymerase (New England Biolabs[®] Inc) and 2 µl lysate as template. The temperature cycles used varied for *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* as shown in Table 3.1.

Onconiem	Primer/Sequences	Cycling Conditions	
Organism	(5' – 3')	(Expected Fragment Size)	
Salmonella	<i>invA-F</i> GTGAAATTATCGCCACGTTCGGGCAA <i>invA-R</i> TCATCGCACCGTCAAAGGAACC	 94 °C for 5 min, 40 cycles of 94 °C for 40s, 64 °C for 30s 72 °C for 30s and a final extension at 72 °C for 7 min. 	
Escherichia coli	uidA-F AAAACGGCAAGAAAAAGCAG uidA-R	 95 °C for 5 min, 40 cycles of 95 °C for 30s, 57 °C for 30s 72 °C for 30s and a final extension at 72 °C for 5 	
	ACGCGTGGTTAACAGTCTTGCG	min.	

Table 3.1: Primers and cycling conditions for PCR-based assays



3.5.3 Gel electrophoresis

Gel electrophoresis was performed on 2% agarose containing 2.5µl ethidium bromide. The PCR products (7 µl) were mixed with 1µl of 6X loading dye and loaded into the gels. They were electrophorized at 80 V for 30 minutes and observed under UV light using UV Transilluminator and images captured with microDOC (Cleaver Scientific Company, UK). The size of the fragment was determined using FastRuler[™] Middle Range DNA Ladder.

3.6 Antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* from meat swab samples

The antibiotic resistance test was conducted using the disc diffusion method of Bauer et al. (1966). Confirmed colonies were inoculated in 10 ml Trypticase Soy Broth (TSB) and incubated at 37 °C for 15 hours. Afterward, the turbidity was adjusted with sterile TSB to a 0.5 McFarland solution and spread plated on Müller Hinton Agar (MHA). Four to five antibiotic discs comprising of Amoxicillin (AML 30µg), Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid (AUG 30 µg), Azithromycin (AZM 15 µg), Ceftriaxone (CRO 30 µg), Chloramphenicol (C 30 µg), Ciprofloxacin (CIP 5 µg), Gentamicin (CN 10 µg), Tetracycline (TE 30 µg) or Sulfamethoxazole-Trimethoprim (SXT 25 µg) were placed on the MHA plates and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. Inhibition zones were measured with a ruler and the results were interpreted using the Clinical Laboratory Standard Institute (CLSI) (2017). Multiple antibiotic index (MAR) was computed using the formula; a/b, where 'a' represents the number of antibiotics to which a particular isolate was resistant to and 'b' the total number of antibiotics



examined (Krumperman, 1983). All the media used were purchased from Oxoid Limited, Basingstoke, UK and all incubations were done under aerobic conditions.

3.7 Data analysis

Data from prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* were analyzed using descriptive statistic of Excel 2021, Office 365, version (v16.0) and the results were presented in Figures and Tables.



CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Prevalence of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry and rainy seasons

4.1.1 Prevalence of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry season

The prevalence of *E. coli* in the various meat swab samples (beef, chevon and mutton) in the dry season is presented in Figure 4.1. The prevalence was 63.3%, 53.3%, and 30.0% for mutton, chevon and beef, respectively.



Figure 4.1: Prevalence of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry season



4.1.2 Prevalence of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swabs samples during the rainy season

The prevalence of *E. coli* in the various meat samples (beef, chevon and mutton) in the rainy season is presented in Figure 4.2. The prevalence was 16.7%, 16.7%, and 6.7% for mutton, chevon and beef, respectively.



Figure 4.2: Prevalence of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the rainy season



4.2 Prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry and rainy seasons

4.2.1 Prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry season

The prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* in the various meat samples (beef, chevon and mutton) in the dry season is presented in Figure 4.3. The prevalence was 13.3.7%, 3.3%, and 0.0% for chevon, beef, and mutton, respectively.



Figure 4.3: Prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat samples during the dry season



4.2.2 Prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat samples during the rainy season

Salmonella enterica isolates were not isolated from the various meat samples.

4.3 Polymerase chain reaction for the confirmation of *E. coli* and *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples

4.3.1 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the confirmation of *Escherichia coli* isolates

Results for polymerase chain reaction to confirm selected *E. coli* isolates is presented in Figure 4.4 The PCR amplification of the partial fragment *uidA* gene of the isolates, and separation of DNA successfully yielded a band of ~147 bp fragment (Figure 4.4) and confirms that the isolates were *Escherichia coli*.





Figure 4.4: Polymerase chain reaction products for the confirmation of *Escherichia coli* isolates. Lane 1: Quick-Load® Purple 100 bp DNA Ladder (New England Biolabs); lanes 2 to 6 *Escherichia coli* isolates from various meat samples (~147 bp fragment); lane 7, positive control and lane 8, negative control.

4.3.2 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the confirmation of Salmonella

enterica isolates

Results for polymerase chain reaction to confirm selected E. coli isolates is presented

in Figure 4.5 The PCR amplification of the partial fragment InvA gene of the isolates,

and separation of DNA successfully yielded a band of ~284 bp fragment (Figure 4.5)

and confirms that the isolates were Salmonella enterica.





Figure 4.5: Polymerase chain reaction products for the confirmation of *Salmonella enterica* isolates. Lane 1: Quick-Load® Purple 100 bp DNA Ladder (New England Biolabs); lanes 2 to 6 *Salmonella enterica* isolates from various meat samples (~284 bp fragment), lane 7, positive control and lane 8, negative control.

4.4 Antibiotic resistance of E. coli isolates from raw meat swab samples during

the dry and rainy seasons

4.4.1 Antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry season

The antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* isolated from the various meat swab samples (raw beef, chevon and mutton) in the dry season is shown in Table 4.1. The highest resistance was observed for Amoxicillin (61.5%), followed by Tetracycline (50%) however, susceptibility was high for Azithromycin (84.6%), Ceftriaxone (80.8%), Chloramphenicol (80.8%), Ciprofloxacin (84.6%), Gentamicin (80.8%) and



Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim (73.1%). Intermediate resistance was relatively high for Amoxycillin/clavulanic acid (34.6%).

Table 4.1: Antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* isolated from raw meat samples in the dry season

Antibiotic	Resistance	Intermediate	Susceptibility
Amoxicillin (AML) 30µg	61.5	19.2	19.2
Amoxycillin/clavulanic acid (AUG) 30µg	11.5	34.6	53.9
Azithromycin (AZM) 15µg	0.0	15.4	84.6
Ceftriaxone (CRO) 30µg	11.5	7.7	80.8
Chloramphenicol (C) 30µg	15.4	3.8	80.8
Ciprofloxacin (CIP) 5µg	15.4	0.0	84.6
Gentamicin (CN) 10µg	3.8	15.4	80.8
Tetracycline (TE) 30µg	50.0	11.5	38.5
Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim(SXT)25	26.9	0.0	73.1
μg			
Overall	21.8	12.0	66.3

4.4.2 Antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat samples during the rainy season

The antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* isolated from the various meat samples (raw beef, chevon and mutton) in the rainy season is shown in Table 4.2. The highest resistance was observed for Amoxicillin (91.0%), followed by Tetracycline (64.0%) and



Trimethoprim/Sulfamethoxazole (64.0%). Susceptibility was high for Ceftriaxone (82.0%), Ciprofloxacin (82.0%), and Gentamicin (82.0%).

Table 4.2: Antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* isolated from raw meat swab samples in the rainy season

Antibiotic	Resistance	Intermediate	Susceptibility
Amoxicillin (AML) 30µg	91.0	0.0	9.0
Amoxycillin/clavulanic acid (AUG) 30µg	45.0	0.0	55.0
Azithromycin (AZM) 15µg	27.0	18.0	55.0
Ceftriaxone (CRO) 30µg	18.0	0.0	82.0
Chloramphenicol (C) 30µg	18.0	18.0	64.0
Ciprofloxacin (CIP) 5µg	9.0	9.0	82.0
Gentamicin (CN) 10µg	0.0	18.0	82.0
Tetracycline (TE) 30µg	64.0	18.0	18.0
Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim(SXT)25	64.0	18.0	18.0
μg			
Overall	37.3	11.0	51.7

4.4.3 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples in the dry season

The MAR index and resistance profile of individual *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples in the dry season is presented in Table 4.3. The MAR index of *E. coli* ranged from 0.2 to 0.8. Thirteen (13) different resistant profiles were observed. Six



(42.9%) of the *E. coli* isolates were resistant to two (2) antibiotics, four (28.6%) were resistant to three (3) antibiotics, two (14.3%) were resistant to four (4) antibiotics and one each (7.1%) was resistant to five (5) and seven (7) antibiotics, respectively.

Code	Source	Number of	MAR profile	MAR index
		antibiotics		
CY3	Chevon	7	AML-C-CIP-CN-CRO-SXT-TE	0.8
MH3	Mutton	5	AML-CIP-CRO-SXT-TE	0.6
BA1	Beef	4	AML-CIP-SXT-TE	0.4
ME1	Mutton	4	AML-C-CRO-SXT	0.4
BA6	Beef	3	AML-AUG-TE	0.3
CA5	Chevon	3	AML-C-TE	0.3
CK1	Chevon	3	AML-SXT-TE	0.3
MY6	Mutton	3	AML- CIP-TE	0.3
BB2	Beef	2	AML-C	0.2
BB6	Beef	2	AML-AUG	0.2
BG3	Beef	2	AML-TE	0.2
CA1	Chevon	2	AML-SXT	0.2
MA1	Mutton	2	AML-SXT	0.2
MY5	Mutton	2	AML-AUG	0.2

Table 4.3: Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual *E. coli* isolates from raw meat samples in the dry season



4.4.4 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual *E. coli* isolates from raw meat samples in the rainy season

The MAR index and resistance profile of individual *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples in the rainy season is presented in Table 4.4. The MAR index of *E. coli* ranged from 0.2 to 0.7. Ten (10) different resistant profiles were observed. Three (30.0%) of the *E. coli* isolates were resistant to two (2) antibiotics, two (20.0%) were resistant to three (3) antibiotics, two (20.0%) were resistant to four (4) antibiotics and one (7.1%) was resistant to six (6) antibiotics.

Code	Source	Number of	MAR profile	MAR index
		antibiotics		
BG2	Beef	6	AML-AUG-C-CRO-SXT-TE	0.7
BA4	Beef	5	AML-AUG-C-CRO-SXT	0.6
MA4	Mutton	5	AML-AUG-AZM-SXT-TE	0.6
CB3	Chevon	4	AML-AUG-SXT-TE	0.4
CR6	Chevon	4	AML-AZM-SXT-TE	0.4
CK3	Chevon	3	AML-SXT-TE	0.3
CY1	Chevon	3	AML-AUG-TE	0.3
CK4	Chevon	2	AML-SXT	0.2
MA1	Mutton	2	AML-TE	0.2
MY1	Mutton	2	AML-CIP	0.2

Table 4.4: Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual *E. coli* isolates from raw meat samples in the rainy season



4.5 Antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry and rainy seasons

4.5.1 Antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry season

The antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella enterica* isolated from the various meat swab samples (raw beef, chevon and mutton) in the dry season is shown in Table 4.5. None of the *Salmonella enterica* isolates was resistant to the antibiotics examined. They were all susceptible to the antibiotics examined except for Ceftriaxone (60.0%). Intermediate resistance was also relatively high for Ceftriaxone (40.0%).

Antibiotic	Resistance	Intermediate	Susceptibility
Amoxicillin (AML) 30µg	0.0	0.0	100.0
Amoxycillin/clavulanic acid (AUG) 30µg	0.0	0.0	100.0
Azithromycin (AZM) 15µg	0.0	0.0	100.0
Ceftriaxone (CRO) 30µg	0.0	40.0	60.0
Chloramphenicol (C) 30µg	0.0	0.0	100.0
Ciprofloxacin (CIP) 5µg	0.0	0.0	100.0
Gentamicin (CN) 10µg	0.0	0.0	100.0
Tetracycline (TE) 30µg	0.0	0.0	100.0
Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim (SXT) 25 μ g	0.0	0.0	100.0
Overall	0.0	4.4	95.6

 Table 4.5: Antibiotic resistance of Salmonella isolated from raw meat swab

 samples in the dry season



4.5.2 Antibiotics resistance of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples in the rainy season

The various meat samples (beef, chevon and mutton) examined during the rainy season were negative for *Salmonella enterica*, therefore, antibiotic resistance test was not done.

4.5.3 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples in the dry season

The *Salmonella enterica* isolates detected were resistant to none of the antibiotics except for an intermediate resistant that was observed for ceftriaxone.

4.5.4 Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index and resistance profile of individual *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples in the rainy season

This was not done since *Salmonella enterica* was not detected in the various meat swab samples examined during the rainy season.



CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION

5.1 Prevalence of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry and rainy seasons

Strains of *E. coli* is among the pathogens implicated in foodborne illnesses and diseases. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2022) reported an outbreak of *E. coli* from the consumption of contaminated ground beef which caused 7 illnesses, 6 hospitalizations and zero deaths. *E. coli* can cause infections with symptoms such as diarrhea (often bloody) and vomiting (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2024a). Some strains of *E. coli* can cause severe infections including urinary tract infections, respiratory illnesses and pneumonia, and even death. Furthermore, season can influence the presence of pathogens in an environment (European Food Safety Authority Panel on Biological Hazards, 2016; Kritzberg and Bååth, 2022). Bacteria have optimum growth range within which they grow. However, most of them prefer to grow at warm temperatures (Government of Western Australia Department of Health, 2022).

In this study, *E. coli* was detected in all meat samples analyzed during the dry and rainy seasons. The presence of *E. coli* was higher during the dry season (48.9%) than the rainy season (13.3%). Among the meat samples, mutton (63.3%) obtained during the dry season was the most contaminated sources, followed by chevon (53.3%) and beef (30.0%) obtained during the dry season, and chevon and mutton (16.7% each) obtained during the rainy season. The least contaminated source was beef (6.7%)



obtained during the rainy season. The higher prevalence of *E. coli* in the dry season than the rainy season may be due to the relatively higher temperature in the dry season that support the growth of most bacteria including *E. coli*. Feng *et al.* (2020) reported that the growth range for *E. coli* is between 35° C and 44.5° C, which is within the temperature range found in the study area during the dry season. Also, the presence of *E. coli* in raw meats suggests faulty processing or cross contamination during slaughter and processing of cattle as Warriss (2000) indicated that the tissues of healthy animals are typically sterile. Sources for cross contamination of meat by bacteria are said to include the knives used for cutting meats, the tables meats are placed on, aprons worn by butchers, hands of butchers/meat sellers and surfaces of the slaughterhouse environment like the floor and walls (Ali *et al.*, 2010; Iroha *et al.*, 2011; Hosseini & Haslberger, 2016).

The results of this study are comparable to others such as Adzitey *et al.* (2020a) who reported that mutton (88.9%), beef (86.7%) and chevon (75.6%) collected from Tamale metropolis of Ghana were contaminated with *E. coli*, which were higher than what was observed in this study. An earlier study by Adzitey (2015) found that 56.0% of beef samples were contaminated with *E. coli* which was quite similar to the prevalence observed for chevon in the dry season but not the rest of the meat samples and the seasons they were analyzed. Adjei *et al.* (2022) sampled raw beef samples from Ashaiman, Ghana and reported that 29.0% were contaminated with *E. coli.*, which is similar to the 30.0% reported for beef collected during the dry season. In Egypt, 11.7% of beef samples collected from slaughterhouses and markets were



contaminated with *E. coli* (Moawad *et al.*, 2017), which was lower than that reported in the current study except the 6.7% found for beef obtained during the rainy season.

5.1 Prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat samples during the dry and rainy seasons

Salmonella enterica are among the most important foodborne pathogens of public health significance. They cause salmonellosis with symptoms such as diarrhea, fever and stomach cramps, which can be self-limiting (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2024b). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2023) reported an outbreak of *Salmonella* infection from the consumption of contaminated ground beef which caused 18 illnesses, 7 hospitalizations and zero deaths. Nonetheless, the consumption of foods contaminated with *Salmonella* can cause death especially in immune-compromised individuals (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2024c). Therefore, the presence of *Salmonella enterica* in raw meats will be a worrying situation that require proper attention via education, proper cooking and avoidance of cross contamination prior to consumption of meat.

In this study *Salmonella enterica* was detected in chevon (13.3%) and mutton (3.3%) samples collected during the dry season, but not the rest of the samples in both the dry and rainy seasons. Therefore, chevon collected during the dry season was the most contaminated sample by *Salmonella enterica*, followed by mutton collected during the dry season and the rest of the samples were negative for *Salmonella enterica*. Similarly, to the results of *E. coli* in the various meat samples, the prevalence of *Salmonella enterica* was higher in the dry season. The absence of *Salmonella enterica*



in the beef, chevon and mutton during the rainy season and beef in the dry season is good and recommended. The flesh of a healthy cattle meant for slaughter is expected to be free from bacteria except if the animal is suffering from bacteremia. Thus, careful and hygienic handling, slaughtering and marketing of meats will ensure that meats are safe for human consumption. Veterinary officers also inspect cattle to ensure that they are healthy prior to slaughter and inspects carcasses after slaughter to ensure that only wholesome meats are passed for consumption. Nonetheless, *Salmonella* harbors the gastrointestinal tract of animals and cross contaminate meats due to poor hygienic slaughter environment and practices during slaughtering and marketing of meats by meat processers, butchers and meat sellers.

Other works have reported on the prevalence of *Salmonella* in various meats. Adzitey (2015) found a prevalence rate of *Salmonella enterica* to be 31.0% for beef samples collected from different locations in Ghana. A later study by Adzitey *et al.* (2020b) reported a prevalence of 42.2%, 48.9% and 73.3% for raw beef, chevon and mutton, respectively in Tamale metropolis. Again, Ekli *et al.* (2019) reported that, 30.0% of beef samples collected from Wa, Ghana was contaminated with *Salmonella enterica*. These prevalence rates were higher than what was recorded in this study. *Salmonella enterica* was found in 7.5% of raw beef samples collected from Ashaiman, Ghana (Adjei *et al.*, 2022). In Egypt, Moawad *et al.* (2017) reported that 8.3% of raw beef samples were contaminated with *Salmonella enterica*. In Ethiopia and USA, a prevalence of 12.0% (Ejo, *et al* 2016) and 4.2% (Bosilevac *et al.*, 2009), respectively was reported for *Salmonella enterica* in beef samples. The findings of Adjei et al.



(2022), Moawad *et al.* (2017), Ejo *et al.* (2016) and Bosilevac *et al.* (2009) are within the range (13.3% and 3.3%) reported by this study.

5.3 Antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* isolates from raw meat samples during the dry and rainy seasons

Antibiotics are used in animal production for treatment of animals, as prophylactics and sometimes as growth promotors (Roberts 2003; Al-Khalaifah, 2018). For instance, Ekli *et al.* (2020) reported that farmers in the Wa, municipality of Ghana use antibiotics such as ciprofloxacin (32.0%), sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim (17.1%), gentamicin (1.8%), ceftriaxone (0.9%), chloramphenicol (0.9%) and tetracycline (0.9%) as prophylactics or to treat animal diseases. They also reported that 73.2% of the farmers did not observe withdrawal periods when they administer, prior to sale and slaughter of animals. The use of antibiotics, particularly for the treatment of sick animals is unavoidable and the use of antibiotics in animal production has links with the development of resistances by bacteria in farm animals. Economou and Gousia (2015) indicated that, agriculture and food animals have been reported to be sources of antimicrobial resistance bacteria.

In this study, the *E. coli* isolated from the various meats in the dry season exhibited higher resistances to Amoxicillin (61.5%) and Tetracycline (50%), but susceptible to Azithromycin (84.6%), Ceftriaxone (80.8%), Chloramphenicol (80.8%), Ciprofloxacin (84.6%), Gentamicin (80.8%) and Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim (73.1%). Quite similarly, *E. coli* isolated in the rainy season exhibited higher resistances to Amoxicillin (91.0%), Tetracycline (64.0%) and Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim

(64.0%), but susceptible to Ceftriaxone (82.0%), Ciprofloxacin (82.0%), and Gentamicin (82.0%). The MAR index ranged from 0.2 (resistant to 2 antibiotics) to 0.8 (resistant to 7 antibiotics) and 0.2 (resistant to 2 antibiotics) to 0.7 (resistant to 6 antibiotics) for *E. coli* isolated from dry and rainy season, respectively. Furthermore, thirteen (13) different resistant profiles and 57.1% multidrug resistance occurred for *E. coli* isolated during the dry season while, ten (10) different resistant profiles and 70% multidrug resistance occurred for *E. coli* isolated during the rainy season.

All *E. coli* isolates resistant to an antibiotic was resistant to at least Amoxicillin. *E. coli* isolates, that is, CAI from chevon and MAI from mutton isolated in the same season, but different meat type exhibited the same resistant profile of AML-SXT (resistant to Amoxicillin and Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim). Some *E. coli* isolates from dry and rainy seasons from the same or different meat types exhibited the same resistant profile. For example, CA1 from chevon and C4 from chevon isolated from *E. coli* in the dry and rainy season exhibited the resistant pattern, AML-SXT. Also, BA6 isolated from beef and CY1 isolated from chevon in the dry and rainy seasons, respectively exhibited the same resistant profile of AML-AUG-TE (resistant to Amoxicillin, Amoxycillin/clavulanic acid and Tetracycline). Overall resistance resistant of 21.8% versus 37.3%, intermediate resistant of 12.0% versus 11.0% and susceptibility of 66.3% and 51.7%, respectively was recorded for the *E. coli* isolated from the dry and rainy season, respectively was recorded for the *E. coli* isolated from the dry and rainy season, respectively, which were relatively similar.



A study by Adzitey et al. (2020a) found that E. coli isolates exhibited higher resistances to tetracycline (73.33%), but susceptible to gentamicin (88.33%), ciprofloxacin (85.00%), sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim (85.00%), chloramphenicol (83.33%) and ceftriaxone (80.00%), which are comparable to this study. MAR index ranged from 0.13 to 1 and 23 antimicrobial resistance profile was observed. This study found fewer antimicrobial resistance profiles, that is 13 for dry season E. coli isolates and 10 for rainy season E. coli isolates and MAR index ranged from 0.2 to 0.8. Resistant to TeAmpE (tetracycline-ampicillin-erythromycin) was the most common and multidrug resistance was 68.3% (Adzitey et al., 2020a). Multidrug resistance was lower for E. coli isolates from the dry season but not the rainy season. According to Moawad et al. (2017), E. coli isolated from meat sources were resistant to tetracycline (80.9%), ampicillin (71.4%), streptomycin, sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim (61.9%) for each) and cefotaxime (33.3%). Resistance to tetracycline was higher in the study of Moawad et al. (2017)compared to this study, while that of sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim varied (lower for dry season and higher for rainy season). Bacteria uses different mechanisms including the production of enzymes (e.g., beta-lactamases from Gram-negatives) and modification of binding sites (e.g., penicillin-binding proteins of Gram-positive beta-lactams) to increase their resistance (Munita & Arias, 2016). Also, the role of transformation, transduction and conjugation in the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes cannot be over-emphasized (Munita & Arias, 2016).



5.4 Antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella enterica* isolates from raw meat swab samples during the dry and rainy seasons

The wide spread usage and misuse of antibiotics in livestock farming makes a significant contribution to the spread of antibiotic resistances among bacteria associated with farm animals.

In this study, the *Salmonella enterica* isolates were 40.0% intermediately resistant and 60.0% susceptible to ceftriaxone. The *Salmonella enterica* was 100.0% susceptible to Amoxicillin, Amoxycillin/clavulanic acid, Azithromycin, Chloramphenicol, Ciprofloxacin, Gentamicin, Tetracycline and Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim and exhibited no resistance.

Ekli et al. (2019) found that Salmonella enterica from beef samples were highly resistant to teicoplanin (96.77%) but susceptible to chloramphenicol (100%), ciprofloxacin (100%), tetracycline (100%), suphamethoxazole/trimethoprim (100%), amoxycillin/clavulanic acid (93.55%), ceftriaxone (93.55%) and gentamicin (83.87%). Susceptibility to chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin, tetracycline and suphamethoxazole/trimethoprim were similar to this study. Salmonella enterica from meat showed 5 different resistance profiles and MAR index ranged from 0.11 to 0.33 (Ekli et al., 2019), these were absent in the current study. Adzitey et al. (2020b) found that Salmonella enterica isolates from various meat sources were susceptible to ciprofloxacin (97.73%), chloramphenicol (93.18%), gentamicin (79.55%),suplfamethoxazole/trimethoprim (90.91%) and tetracycline (84.09%), which contradicts the findings of this study which found 100% susceptibility throughout.



According to Moawad *et al.* (2017), *Salmonella enterica* isolates from meat sources were resistant to ampicillin (86.7%), cefotaxime (80.0%), cefpodoxime (60.0%), sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim (53.3%) and tetracycline (40.0%). In this study resistance to sulphamethoxazole/trimethoprim and tetracycline was not found.

Antimicrobial resistances result from the use antibiotics in animal production which is sometimes easily accessible without strict regulations. Anachinaba *et al.* (2022) indicated that farmers heard about antibiotic resistance from extension officers (53%), veterinary officers (27%), media (11%) and colleague farmers/schools (9.0%), and used antibiotics for treatment of sick animals (45%), as growth promoters (35%), as prophylactics (12%) and a combination of the three (9%). They also engaged veterinary officers (15%), administer antibiotics themselves (35%), by colleague farmers (41%) and a combination of the three (9%).



CHAPTER SIX

6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1 Conclusion

The results of this study showed that all raw meats were contaminated with *E. coli* and *Salmonella enterica* with highest prevalences during the dry season and mutton been the contaminated whilst beef was the least contaminated.

The highest antibiotics resistance was observed for Amoxicillin followed by Tetracycline for both seasons and an *E. coli* isolate was resistant to a maximum of seven antibiotics and a minimum of two antibiotics with susceptibility greater than 80.0% against Azithromycin, Ceftriaxone, Chloramphenicol, Ciprofloxacin and Gentamicin. *Salmonella enterica* was susceptible to all the antibiotics except ceftriaxone in which 40.0% intermediate resistance occurred. Multidrug resistance was not observed in the isolated *Salmonella enterica*.

6.2 Recommendations

- The condition of the slaughter slab in Buipe needs general restructuring and expansion by the District Assembly to minimize contaminations and cross contaminations during animal handling, slaughtering and processing of meats.
- Butchers and other meat handlers need basic training on hygienic meat handling by the appropriate authorities such as Veterinary Services or Meat Science Professionals to reduce meat contaminations at the slaughter and throughout the meat production value chain to prevent possible zoonoses.
- Further work by researchers is recommended for demographic characterization and knowledge on hygienic practices among butchers and meat sellers.



• Further studies are required on the molecular characterization of the foodborne bacteria by researchers and relevant stakeholders to identify antimicrobial resistance genes, virulence genes and genetic diversity of other foodborne microbes in Buipe meats.



REFERENCES

- Abakari, G., Cobbina, S. J., & Yeleliere, E. (2018). *Microbial quality of ready-to-eat* vegetable salads vended in the central business district of Tamale, Ghana.
- Abbott, S. L., Ni, F. C. Y., & Janda, J. M. (2012). Increase in Extraintestinal Infections Caused by Salmonella enterica Subspecies II–IV. 18(4), 637–639.
- Abraham, D. T., Ansah, T., & Adzitey, F. (2022). Factors Influencing Consumer Preference for Beef or Chevon in the Northern Region of Ghana 15(December), 1605–1617.
- Adams, F., Ohene-yankyera, K., Aidoo, R., & Wongnaa, C. A. (2021). *Economic* benefits of livestock management in Ghana. 7.
- Addy, F., Gyan, K., Arhin, E., & Wassermann, M. (2020). Prevalence of bovine fasciolosis from the Bolgatanga abattoir, Ghana. *Scientific African*, 8, e00469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2020.e00469
- Adeapena, W., Afari-Asiedu, S., Najjemba, R., Griensven, J. van, Delamou, A., Buabeng, K. O., & Asante, K. P. (2021). Antibiotic use in a municipal veterinary clinic in ghana. *Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease*, 6(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3390/tropicalmed6030138
- Adhikari, H., Barnes, D. L., Schiewer, S., & White, D. M. (2007). *Total Coliform Survival Characteristics in Frozen Soils. December*, 1098–1106.
- Adjei, V. Y., Mensah, G. I., Kunadu, A. P., Tano-debrah, K., Ayi, I., & Addo, K. K.
 (2022). Microbial Safety of Beef Along Beef Value Chains in the Ashaiman Municipality of Ghana. 9(June), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.813422

Adley, C. C., & Ryan, M. P. (2016). The Nature and Extent of Foodborne Disease. In


Antimicrobial Food Packaging. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800723-5.00001-2

- Adzitey, F. (2013). Animal and Meat Production in Ghana-An Overview. *Journal of World's Poultry Resesearch*, 3(31), 1–4.
- Adzitey, F. (2015). Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* spp. in beef samples sold at Tamale Metropolis, Ghana. International *Journal of Meat Science*, 5: 8-13.
- Adzitey, F. (2018). Antibiotic resistance of Escherichia coli and Salmonella enterica isolated from cabbage and lettuce samples in Tamale metropolis of Ghana.
- Adzitey, F., Agbolosu, A., & Udoka, U. J. (2019). Antibacterial Effect of Aloe Vera Gel Extract on *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica* isolated from the gastrointestinal tract of Guinea fowls. *World's Veterinary Journal*, 9(3), 166– 173.
- Adzitey, F., Asiamah, P., & Boateng, E.F. (2020). Prevalence and Antibiotic Susceptibility of Salmonella enterica isolated from Cow Milk, Milk Products and Hands of Sellers in the Tamale Metropolis of Ghana. 2015.
- Adzitey, F., Assoah-Peprah, P., Teye, G.A., Somboro, A.M., Kumalo, H.M. & Amoako, D.G. (2020a). Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolated from various meat types in the Tamale Metropolis of Ghana. *International Journal of Food Science*, 2020.
- Adzitey, F., Teye, G.A. & Amoako, D.G. (2020b). Prevalence, phylogenomic insights, and phenotypic characterization of *Salmonella enterica* isolated from meats in the Tamale metropolis of Ghana. *Food Science and Nutrition*, 00:1-9.



https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.1647.

- Adzitey, F., Ekli, R., & Abu, A. (2019). Prevalence and antibiotic susceptibility of Staphylococcus aureus isolated from raw and grilled beef in Nyankpala community in the Northern Region of Ghana. *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2019.1671115
- Adzitey, F., & Huda, N. (2021). Phenotypic Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Escherichia coli from Raw Meats, Ready-to-Eat Meats, and Their Related Samples in One Health Context.
- Adzitey, F., Huda, N., & Shariff, A. H. M. (2021). Phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility of *Escherichia coli* from raw meats, ready-to-eat meats, and their related samples in one health context. *Microorganisms*, 9(2), 326.
- Adzitey, F., Nsoah, J. K., & Teye, G. A. (2015). Prevalence and Antibiotic Susceptibility of Salmonella species Isolated from Beef and its Related Samples in Techiman Municipality of Ghana. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture Food Science and Technology*, 3(8), 644. https://doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v3i8.644-650.399
- Afari-Asiedu, S., Hulscher, M., Abdulai, M. A., Boamah-kaali, E., Asante, K. P., & Wertheim, H. F. L. (2020). *Every medicine is medicine ; exploring inappropriate antibiotic use at the community level in rural Ghana*. 1–10.
- Aikins-wilson, S., Hagan, B. A., & Resources, N. (2015). Meat Consumption Trends in Some Selected Households in Accra Ghana Meat Consumption Trends in Some Selected Households in Accra Ghana. May.

Akorli, S. (2012). Slaughterhouses, Animal slaughter and Slaughter Hygiene in



Ghana Journal of Veterinary Advances Slaughterhouses, Animal slaughter and Slaughter Hygiene in Ghana. May 2014.

- Al-Khalaifah, H. S. (2018). Benefits of probiotics and/or prebiotics for antibiotic-reduced poultry. *Poultry Science*, 97(11), 3807–3815. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pey160
- Al-Zubaidy, K. I. (2020). Bacterial Vulnerability and Blood Types, Salmonella and Escherichia coli as A Study Case. Journal of Basrah Researches, 2(46), 1–3. https://www.iasj.net/iasj/journal/260/issues
- Ali, N. H., Farooqui, A., Khan, A., Khan, A. Y., & Kazmi, S. U. (2010). Microbial contamination of raw meat and its environment in retail shops in Karachi, Pakistan. *Journal of Infection in Developing Countries*, 4(6), 382–388. https://doi.org/10.3855/jidc.599
- Allen, H. K., Trachsel, J., Looft, T., & Casey, T. A. (2014). Finding alternatives to antibiotics. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1323(1), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12468
- Almeida, A., Duarte, S., Nunes, R., Rocha, H., Pena, A., & Meisel, L. (2014). Human and veterinary antibiotics used in Portugal-A ranking for ecosurveillance. *Toxics*, 2(2), 188–225. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics2020188
- Amponsah, O. K. O., Buabeng, K. O., Owusu-Ofori, A., Ayisi-Boateng, N. K., Hämeen-Anttila, K., & Enlund, H. (2021). Point prevalence survey of antibiotic consumption across three hospitals in Ghana. *JAC-Antimicrobial Resistance*, 3(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/jacamr/dlab008

Arnold, G. L., Beaves, M. R., Pryjdun, V. O., & Mook, W. J. (2002). Preliminary



Study of Ciprofloxacin in Active Crohn 's Disease. 8(September 1996), 10–15.

- Anachinaba, I.A., Adzitey, F., Brown, C.A. & Boateng, E.F. (2022). Knowledge and perception of farmers in Tema metropolis, Ghana on microbiological meat safety, antibiotic resistance and antibiotic residues. *African Journal of Health, Safety and Environment* 3 (2): 13-30, DOI: 10.52417/ajhse.v3i2.237.
- Arvanitoyannis, I. S., & Bosnea, L. (2004). Migration of Substances from Food Packaging Materials to Foods. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 44(2), 63–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408690490424621
- Aslam, A., Gajdács, M., Zin, C. S., Rahman, N. S. A., Ahmed, S. I., Zafar, M. Z., & Jamshed, S. (2020). Evidence of the practice of self-medication with antibiotics among the lay public in low-and middle-income countries: A scoping review. *Antibiotics*, 9(9), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9090597

Aziz, M. (2018). Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC). August.

- Babic, M., Hujer, A. M., & Bonomo, R. A. (2006). What's new in antibiotic resistance? Focus on beta-lactamases. *Drug Resistance Updates*, 9(3), 142–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drup.2006.05.005
- Bakheit, A. H. H., & Al-hadiya, B. M. H. (2014). *Azithromycin*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800173-8.00001-5
- BAKHTIARY, F., SAYEVAND, H. R., REMELY, M., HIPPE, B., HOSSEINI, H., & HASLBERGER, H. H. and A. G. (2016). *EVALUATION OF BACTERIAL CONTAMINATION SOURCES IN MEAT PRODUCTION LINE. 00*, 1–7.
- Balbi, H. J., & Balbi, H. J. (2014). Chloramphenicol: A Review. https://doi.org/10.1542/pir.25-8-284



- Ball, P. (2007). The clinical development and launch of amoxicillin / clavulanate for the treatment of a range of community-acquired infections. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2007.07.037
- Ban, Y. H., Song, M. C., Hwang, J., Shin, H., Kim, H. J., Hong, S. K., Lee, N. J.,
 Park, J. W., Cha, S., Liu, H., & Yoon, Y. J. (2019). Complete reconstitution of the diverse pathways of gentamicin B biosynthesis. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-018-0203-4
- Banson, K. E., Nketsia-tabiri, J., Anno, K., & Dagbui, E. K. (2014). *Economic and Market Analysis of Swine Rearing and Pork Production in Ghana*. 8(8), 699–708.
- Batista, D., Carvalho, A. P., Costa, R., Coutinho, R., Dobretsov, S., Verstraete, W., Burmølle, M., Webb, J. S., Rao, D., Hansen, L. H., Sørensen, S. J., Kjelleberg, S., Donlan, R. M., Huang, S., Hadfield, M. G., Parry, J. D., Verstraete, W., & Sherr, E. B. (2002). Comparative integrated omics: identification of key functionalities in microbial community-wide metabolic networks. *Npj Biofilms and Microbiomes*, 57(6), 10–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/npjbio
- Bauer, A. W., Kirby, W. M. M., Sherris, J. C., & Turck, M. (1966). ANTIBIOTIC SUSCEPTIBILITY TESTING BY A STANDARDIZED SINGLE DISK METHOD. *The Annals of The Royal College of Surgeons of England*, 95(7), 532–532. https://doi.org/10.1308/rcsann.2013.95.7.532
- Beach, J. C., Murano, E. A., & Acuff, G. R. (2002). Prevalence of Salmonella and Campylobacter in beef cattle from transport to slaughter. *Journal of Food Protection*, 65(11), 1687–1693. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-65.11.1687

Belotserkovsky, I., Sansonetti, P. J., Jenkins, C., Slater, S. L., Sagfors, A. M., Pollard,



- D. J., Ruano-Gallego, D., Frankel, G., Shenoy, A. R., Furniss, R. C. D., Goddard,
 P. J., Clements, A., Yair, Y., Gophna, U., Paitan, Y., Nesta, B., & Pizza, M.
 (2018). *Escherichia coli*, a versatile pathogen. In *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol*.
 (Vol. 416, Issue 1). http://www.springer.com/series/82
- Béraud, G., Moal, G. Le, Elsendoorn, A., & Tattevin, P. (2012). A survey on the use of gentamicin in infective endocarditis. 1413–1418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-011-1458-9
- Berendonk, T. U., Manaia, C. M., Merlin, C., Kassinos, D. F., Cytryn, E., Walsh, F.,
 Bürgmann, H., Huovinen, P., Stefani, S., Schwartz, T., Kisand, V., Baquero, F.,
 & Martinez, J. L. (2013). *Tackling antibiotic resistance: the environmental frame* work. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3439
- Blount, Z. D. (2015). *The unexhausted potential of E. coli*. 1–12. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.05826
- Boler, D. D., & Woerner, D. R. (2017). What is meat? A perspective from the American Meat Science Association. *Animal Frontiers*, 7(4), 8–11. https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2017.0436
- Bonsu Osei-Asare, Y., & Eghan, M. (2014). Meat Consumption in Ghana, Evidence from Household Micro-Data. *The Empirical Economics Letters*, 13(2), 1681– 8997.
- Bosilevac, J.M., Guerini, M.N., Kalchayanand, N. & Koohmaraie, M. (2009). Prevalence and characterization of *Salmonellae* in commercial ground beef in the United States. Applied Environment Microbiology, 75:1892-1900.

Boruwa, J., Borah, J. C., Gogoi, S., & Barua, N. C. (2005). A short asymmetric total



synthesis of chloramphenicol using a selectively protected 1,2-diol. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 46(10), 1743–1746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2005.01.039

- Botta, C., Ferrocino, I., Pessione, A., Cocolin, L., & Rantsiou, K. (2020).
 Spatiotemporal Distribution of the Environmental Microbiota in Food Processing
 Plants as Impacted by Cleaning and Sanitizing Procedures: the Case of
 Slaughterhouses and Gaseous Ozone. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 86(23), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01861-20
- Bowden, S. D., Hopper-chidlaw, A. C., Rice, C. J., Ramachandran, V. K., Kelly, D. J.,
 & Thompson, A. (2014). Nutritional and Metabolic Requirements for the Infection of HeLa Cells by Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium. 9(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096266
- Bowen, A. C., Carapetis, J. R., Currie, B. J., Jr, V. F., Chambers, H. F., & Tong, S. Y.
 C. (2017). Sulfamethoxazole-Trimethoprim (Cotrimoxazole) for Skin and Soft Tissue Infections Including Impetigo, Cellulitis, and Abscess. January, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofx232
- Brenner, F. W., Villar, R. G., Angulo, F. J., Tauxe, R., & Swaminathan, B. (2000). Salmonell Nomenclature. 38(7), 2465–2467.
- Briyne, N. De, Atkinson, J., Pokludová, L., & Borriello, S. P. (2014). *Antibiotics used most commonly to treat animals in Europe*. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.102462

Bughti, A., Abro, S. H., Kamboh, A. A., Leghari, R. A., Kumar, C., & Koondhar, S.
A. (2017). Bacterial Contamination of Raw Meat and Butchers' Equipment in Retail Shops in Tando-Allahyar, Pakistan. *Journal of Animal Health and Production*, 5(3), 115–119.



https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.17582/journal.jahp/2017/5.3.115.119

- Buzby, J. C., & Roberts, T. (2009). The Economics of Enteric Infections : Human Foodborne Disease Costs. *YGAST*, *136*(6), 1851–1862. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2009.01.074
- Cabral, J. P. . (2010). Water Microbiology . Bacterial Pathogens and Water. 3657– 3703. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7103657
- Cabrera-sosa, L., & Ochoa, T. J. (2020). Escherichia coli Diarrhea. In Hunter's Tropical Medicine and Emerging Infectious Disease (Tenth Edit). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-55512-8.00046-6
- Calderón, C. B., & Sabundayo, B. P. (2007). Antimicrobial Classifications: Drugs for Bugs.
- Cameron, N. D., Enser, M., Nute, G. R., Whittington, F. M., & Penman, J. C. (2000). Genotype with nutrition interaction on fatty acid composition of intramuscular fat and the relationship with ⁻ avour of pig meat. 55, 187–195.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2024a). *E. coli (Escherichia coli)*. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/index.html, accessed on 23/03/2024.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2022). *E. coli* outbreak linked to ground beef Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2022/o157h7-09-22/index.html, accessed on 23/03/2024.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2024b). *Salmonella*. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/index.html, accessed on 23/03/2024.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2024c). *Salmonella* outbreak linked to cantaloupe. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/sundsvall-11-



23/index.html, accessed on 23/03/2024.

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2023). *Salmonella* outbreak linked to ground beef. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/saintpaul-07-23/index.html, accessed on 23/03/2024.
- Coburn, B., Grassl, G. A., & Finlay, B. B. (2007). Salmonella, the host and disease: a brief review. June 2006, 112–118. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.icb.7100007
- Cohen, N., Ennaji, H., Bouchrif, B., Hassar, M., & Karib, H. (2007). Comparative study of microbiological quality of raw poultry meat at various seasons and for different slaughtering processes in Casablanca (Morocco). *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 16(4), 502–508. https://doi.org/10.3382/japr.2006-00061
- Conley, Z. C., Bodine, T. J., Chou, A., & Zechiedrich, L. (2018). *Wicked : The untold story of ciprofloxacin*. 1–13.
- Cook, M. A., & Wright, G. D. (2022). *The past*, present, and future of antibiotics. 7793(August), 1–12.
- Costa, R. J., Voloski, L. S., Mondadori, R. G., Duval, E. H., & Fiorentini, M. (2019). *Preservation of Meat Products with Bacteriocins Produced by Lactic Acid Bacteria Isolated from Meat.* 2019.
- Costa, V. M. D., King, C. E., Kalan, L., Morar, M., Sung, W. W. L., Schwarz, C., Froese, D., Zazula, G., Calmels, F., Debruyne, R., Golding, G. B., Poinar, H. N., & Wright, G. D. (2011). Antibiotic resistance is ancient. *Nature*, 477(7365), 457– 461. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10388
- Croxen, M. A., & Finlay, B. B. (2010). Molecular mechanisms of *Escherichia coli* pathogenicity. *Reviews Microbiology*, 8(January).



https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2265

- Cundiff, J., & Joe, S. (2007). *Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid induced hepatitis*. 28, 28– 30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjoto.2006.06.007
- Darko, G., Borquaye, L. S., Acheampong, A., & Oppong, K. (2017). Veterinary antibiotics in dairy products from Kumasi, Ghana. *Cogent Chemistry*, 3(1), 1343636. https://doi.org/10.1080/23312009.2017.1343636
- Davies, D. (2003). Understanding biofilm resistance to antibacterial agents. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 2(2), 114–122. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1008
- Debroy, C., Fratamico, P. M., Yan, X., Baranzoni, G., Liu, Y., Needleman, D. S., Tebbs, R., Connell, C. D. O., Roberts, E. L., & Katani, R. (2016). Comparison of O-Antigen Gene Clusters of All O-Serogroups of Escherichia coli and Proposal for Adopting a New Nomenclature for. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147434
- Debroy, C., Roberts, E., & Fratamico, P. M. (2011). Detection of O antigens in Escherichia coli. 12(2). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466252311000193
- Dela, H., Egyir, B., Behene, E., Sulemana, H., Tagoe, R., Bentil, R., Bongo, R. N. A., Bonfoh, B., Zinsstag, J., Bimi, L., & Kwasi, K. (2023). International Journal of Food Microbiology Microbiological quality and antimicrobial resistance of Bacteria species recovered from ready-to-eat food, water samples, and palm swabs of food vendors in Accra, Ghana. *International Journal of Food Microbiology, 396*(March), 110195.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2023.110195

Delahoy, M. J., Shah, H. J., Weller, D. L., Ray, L. C., Smith, K., McGuire, S.,



Trevejo, R. T., Scallan Walter, E., Wymore, K., Rissman, T., McMillian, M., Lathrop, S., LaClair, B., Boyle, M. M., Harris, S., Zablotsky-Kufel, J., Houck, K., Devine, C. J., Lau, C. E., ... Payne, D. C. (2023). Preliminary Incidence and Trends of Infections Caused by Pathogens Transmitted Commonly Through Food — Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network, 10 U.S. Sites, 2022. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 72(26), 701–706. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7226a1

- Demirbilek, S. K. (2018). Salmonellosis in Animals. Salmonella A Re-Emerging Pathogen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.72192
- Deng, L., Song, J., Gao, X., Wang, J., Yu, H., Chen, X., Varki, N., Naito-Matsui, Y., Galán, J. E., & Varki, A. (2014). Host adaptation of a bacterial toxin from the human pathogen salmonella typhi. *Cell*, 159(6), 1290–1299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.10.057
- Desiere, S., Hung, Y., Verbeke, W., & D'Haese, M. (2017). Assessing current and future meat and fish consumption in Sub-Sahara Africa: Learnings from FAO Food Balance Sheets and LSMS household survey data. *Global Food Security*, *16*(December), 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2017.12.004
- Desiere, S., Hung, Y., Verbeke, W., & Haese, M. D. (2017). Assessing current and future meat and fi sh consumption in Sub-Sahara Africa : Learnings from FAO Food Balance Sheets and LSMS household survey data. *Global Food Security*, *June*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2017.12.004
- Diarrassouba, F., Diarra, M. S., Bach, S., Delaquis, P., Pritchard, J., Topp, E., & Skura, B. J. (2007). Antibiotic Resistance and Virulence Genes in Commensal



Escherichia coli and Salmonella Isolates from Commercial Broiler Chicken Farms †. 70(6), 1316–1327.

Dikeman, M., & Devine, C. (2014). MEAT SCIENCES.

- Dougnon, T. V., Legba, B., Deguenon, E., Hounmanou, G., Agbankpe, J., Amadou, A., Fabiyi, K., Assogba, P., Aniambossou, A., Souza, M. De, Honoré, S., Babamoussa, L., & Dougnon, T. J. (2017). *Pathogenicity , Epidemiology and Virulence Factors of Salmonella species : A Review. 9*(4), 466–472. https://doi.org/10.15835/nsb9410125
- Dsani, E., Afari, E. A., Danso-appiah, A., Kenu, E., Kaburi, B. B., & Egyir, B. (2020). Antimicrobial resistance and molecular detection of extended spectrum β lactamase producing Escherichia coli isolates from raw meat in Greater Accra region, Ghana. 1–8.
- Durso, L. M., & Cook, K. L. (2014). Impacts of antibiotic use in agriculture: What are the benefits and risks? *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 19(1), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2014.05.019
- Echeverría-esnal, D., Martin-ontiyuelo, C., Navarrete-, M. E., Cuscó, M. D.,
 Ferrández, O., & Horcajada, J. P. (2020). Azithromycin in the treatment of
 COVID-19: a review. In *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy* (Vol. 0, Issue
 0). Taylor & Francis. https://doi.org/10.1080/14787210.2020.1813024
- Economou, V., & Gousia, P. (2015). Agriculture and food animals as a source of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria. *Infection and Drug Resistance*, 8, 49–61. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S55778

EFSA Panel on Biological Hazards (2016). Growth of spoilage bacteria during storage



and transport of meat. Available at: https://efsa.onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/full/10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4523

- Ejo, M, Garedew, L, Alebachew, Z. & Worku, W. (2016). Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Salmonella* isolated from animal-origin food items in Gondar, Ethiopia. Biomed Research International, 4290506. doi: 10.1155/2016/4290506.
- Ekici, G., & Dümen, E. (2019). Escherichia coli and Food Safety. IntechOpen, 1-16.
- Ekli, R., Adzitey, F. & Agbolosu A.A. (2020). Farmers' knowledge in antibiotic usage, antibiotic residues, and susceptibility of Salmonella enterica in beef samples from the Wa Municipality, Ghana. *Bulletin of Animal Health and Production in Africa*, 68:89–101
- Ekli, R., Adzitey, F. & Huda, N. (2019). Prevalence of resistant Salmonella spp. isolated from raw meat and liver of cattle in the Wa Municipality of Ghana. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 287:012006.
- Elias, W. P., & Navarro-garcia, F. (2016). Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* (EAEC). *Escherichia coli in the Americas*, 27–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45092-6
- Erasmus, S. W., & Hoffman, L. C. (2017). *What is meat in South Africa*? 7(4), 71–75. https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2017.0449
- Espinosa, J. C., Andreoletti, O., Jaumain, E., Padilla, D., Be, V., Reine, F., Herzog, L.,
 Gutierrez-adan, A., Pintado, B., Laude, H., & Maria, J. (2011). Sheep and Goat
 BSE Propagate More Efficiently than Cattle BSE in Human PrP Transgenic
 Mice. 7(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1001319



- FDA-Ghana. (2013). Food and Drugs authority guidelines / code of practices for slaughter houses / slabs, transportation of meat, meat markets or shops, meat processing and cold. February, 1–54.
- FDA-Ghana. (2020). FOOD AND DRUGS AUTHORITY GUIDELINES FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A. February 2013, 1–15.
- Feglo, P., & Nkansah, M. (2010). Bacterial load on Ghanaian currency notes. Afr J Microbiol Res, 4(22), 2375–2380.
 http://www.academicjournals.org/article/article1380527085_Feglo and Nkansah.pdf
- Felix, A., Emikpe, B. O., Asiamah, E., & Dankwa, K. O. (2016). Consumers' preference and associated pathology observed in cattle and goat offals in Kumasi, Ghana. *African Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 10(2), 127–133. https://doi.org/10.21010/ajid.v10i2.9
- Feng, P., Regan, P. M., Kase, J., & Burkhardt, W. (2011). Bacteriological Analytical Manual (BAM) Bacteriological Analytical Manual (BAM) Table of Contents Bacteriological Analytical Manual (BAM) Introduction. 9–12.
- Ferreira, L. C., & Martinez, M. B. (2016). Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjm.2016.10.015
- Fleckenstein, J. M. (2013). Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. In Escherichia coli: Pathotypes and Principles of Pathogenesis (Second Edi). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-397048-0.00006-1
- Foley, S. L., & Lynne, A. M. (2008). Food animal-associated Salmonella challenges : Pathogenicity and antimicrobial resistance 1. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2007-



0447

- Fookes, M., Schroeder, G. N., Langridge, G. C., Blondel, C. J., Mammina, C., Connor, T. R., Seth-smith, H., Vernikos, G. S., Robinson, K. S., Sanders, M., Nuccio, S., Petty, N. K., Kingsley, R. A., Ba, A. J., Maskell, D., Barrow, P., Humphrey, T., Nastasi, A., Roberts, M., ... Thomson, N. R. (2011). Salmonella bongori Provides Insights into the Evolution of the Salmonellae. 7(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002191
- Fosse, J., Seegers, H., Magras, C., Fosse, J., Seegers, H., Magras, C., Julien, F., Henri,
 S., & Catherine, M. (2008). Foodborne zoonoses due to meat: a quantitative approach for a comparative risk assessment applied to pig slaughtering in Europe To cite this version: HAL Id: hal-00902892 Original article Foodborne zoonoses due to meat: a quantitative approach for a c.
- Fotadar, Zaveloff, P., & Terracio, L. (2005). Growth of *Escherichia coli* at elevated temperatures. J. Basic Microbial, 45, 403–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.200410542
- Frost, L. S., Leplae, R., Summers, A. O., & Toussaint, A. (2005). Mobile genetic elements : The agents of open source evolution. *Nature Reviews in Microbiology*, *October*, 722–732. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1235
- Fuchs, T., Stange, R., Schmidmaier, G., & Raschke, M. J. (2011). The use of gentamicin-coated nails in the tibia : preliminary results of a prospective study. 1419–1425. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00402-011-1321-6
- Gal, J. E., Lara-tejero, M., Marlovits, T. C., & Wagner, S. (2014). Bacterial Type III Secretion Systems : Specialized Nanomachines for Protein Delivery into Target



Cells. June, 415–438. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-092412-155725

Gallo, M., Ferrara, L., Calogero, A., Montesano, D., & Naviglio, D. (2020).
Relationships between food and diseases: What to know to ensure food safety. *Food Research International*, 137, 109414.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109414

Gast, R. K., & Porter, R. E. (2020). Salmonella infections.

- Geddes, A. M., Klugman, K. P., & Rolinson, G. N. (2007). Introduction : historical perspective and development of amoxicillin / clavulanate. 109–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2007.07.015
- Germini, A., Masola, A., Carnevali, P., & Marchelli, R. (2009). Simultaneous detection of *Escherichia coli* O175: H7, Salmonella spp., and Listeria monocytogenes by multiplex PCR. *Food Control*, 20(8), 733–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2008.09.010
- Ghana Statistical Service (2022). 2021 Population and Housing Census (PHC2021) General Report Volume 3A. stated that the Population of regions and districts
- Ghana Statistical Service (2014). 2010 population and hosuing census, district analytical report, Central Gonja District. Available at: https://www2.statsghana.gov.gh/docfiles/2010_District_Report/Northern/CENTR AL%20GONJA.pdf, accessed on 23/03/2024.
- Ghidini, S., Luca, S. De, Rodríguez-lópez, P., Cezara, A., Liuzzo, G., Poli, L., Ianieri,
 A., & Zanardi, E. (2022). *Microbial contamination , antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation of bacteria isolated from a high-throughput pig abattoir. 11.* https://doi.org/10.4081/ijfs.2022.10160



- Glaize, A., Young, M., Harden, L., Gutierrez-rodriguez, E., & Thakur, S. (2021). The effect of vegetation barriers at reducing the transmission of Salmonella and *Escherichia coli* from animal operations to fresh produce. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 347(February), 109196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109196
- Goh, S. (2016). Phage Transduction. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, *1476*, 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6361-4
- Gordon, D. M. (2001). *Geographical structure and host specificity in bacteria and the implications for tracing the source of coliform contamination*. 1079–1085.
- Government of Western Australia Department of Health (2020). Bacteria grow in the temperature danger zone Available at: https://www.health.wa.gov.au/Articles/A_E/Bacteria-grow-in-the-temperaturedanger-zone, accessed on 23/03/2024.
- Green, R. M., & Kane, K. (2014). The effective enforcement of HACCP based food safety management systems in the UK. *Food Control*, 37, 257–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2013.09.016
- Grimont, P. A. D., & Weill, F.-X. (2007). ANTIGENIC FORMULAE OF THE SALMONELLA SEROVARS.
- Grist, N. R., Reid, D., Bell, E. J., & Young, A. B. (2000). Control of Communicable
 Disease. *The Lancet*, *319*(8268), 393. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(82)91415-5
- Grossman, T. H. (2016). Tetracycline antibiotics and resistance. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 6(4). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a025387



GSS. (2014). Central gonja district.

GSS. (2021). Ghana 2021 Population and Housing Census: General Report Volume 3A.

GSS. (2023). POPULATION OF REGIONS AND DISTRICTS REPORT. 32.

- Haile, S. T. (2022). Determination of Rates of NPSB Blended Fertilizer for Better Production of Maize in Debub Ari District, Southern Ethiopia. August.
- Halkman, H. B. D., & Halkman, A. K. (2014). Indicator Organisms. In *Encyclopedia* of Food Microbiology: Second Edition (Second Edi, Vol. 2). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384730-0.00396-7
- Halweil, B. (2008). Meat Production Continues to Rise. Vital Signs Online, August, 2007–2009.
- Hamilton, L. A., & Guarascio, A. J. (2019). Tetracycline Allergy. *Pharmacy*, 7(3), 104. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmacy7030104
- Hanekamp, J. C., & Bast, A. (2015). Antibiotics exposure and health risks: Chloramphenicol. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 39(1), 213– 220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2014.11.016
- Hanson, R., Kaneene, J. B., Padungtod, P., Hirokawa, K., & Zeno, C. (2002).
 Prevalence of Salmonella and *E. coli*, and their resistance to antimicrobial agents, in farming communities in northern Thailand. *The Southeast Asian Journal of Tropical Medicine and Public Health*, 33 Suppl 3(Suppl 3), 120–126.
- Hassan, M. M. (2014). Antimicrobial Resistance Pattern against *E. coli* and Salmonella in Layer Poultry. *Research Journal for Veterinary Practitioners*, 2(2), 30–35. https://doi.org/10.14737/journal.rjvp/2014/2.2.30.35



- Haunshi, S., Devatkal, S., Prince, L. L. L., Ullengala, R., Ramasamy, K., & Chatterjee,
 R. (2022). Carcass Characteristics, Meat Quality and Nutritional Composition of
 Kadaknath, a Native Chicken Breed of India. *Foods*, 11(22).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11223603
- Hayes, E. T., Wilks, J. C., Sanfilippo, P., Yohannes, E., Tate, D. P., Jones, B. D., Radmacher, M. D., Bondurant, S. S., & Slonczewski, J. L. (2006). Oxygen limitation modulates pH regulation of catabolism and hydrogenases, multidrug transporters, and envelope composition in Escherichia coli K-12. 18, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-6-89
- Heetun, I., Goburdhun, D., & Neetoo, H. (2015). Comparative Microbiological Evaluation of Raw Chicken from Markets and Chilled Outlets of Mauritius. 5(December 2013), 10–18.
- Heuzenroeder, M. (2000). Salmonella in Domestic Animals. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 78(8), 570–570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.2000.tb11907.x
- Hoffmann, S., Maculloch, B., & Batz, M. (2015). This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search . Help ensure our sustainability . Economic Burden of Major Foodborne Illnesses Acquired in the United States. *AgEcon SEARCH*.
- Holland, D., Thomson, L., Mahmoudzadeh, N., & Khaled, A. (2020). Estimating deaths from foodborne disease in the UK for 11 key pathogens. *BMJ Open Gastroenterology*, 7(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgast-2020-000377
- Hosseini, H., & Haslberger, A. G. Bakhtiary, F., Sayevand, H. R., Remely, M., Hippe,B., (2016). Evaluation of bacterial contamination sources in meat production



line. Journal of food quality, 39(6), 750-756.

- Hueston, W. D. (2013). BSE and variant CJD: Emerging science, public pressure and the vagaries of policy-making. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 109(3–4), 179– 184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2012.11.023
- Ibarra, J. A., & Steele-mortimer, O. (2009). Microreview Salmonella the ultimate insider . Salmonella virulence factors that modulate intracellular survival. 11(September), 1579–1586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2009.01368.x
- Ibrahim, S., Wei Hoong, L., Lai Siong, Y., Mustapha, Z., C. W. Zalati, C. W. S., Aklilu, E., Mohamad, M., & Kamaruzzaman, N. F. (2021). Prevalence of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) Salmonella spp. and *Escherichia coli* isolated from broilers in the east coast of peninsular malaysia. *Antibiotics*, 10(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10050579
- Iovine, R. de O., Dejuste, C., Miranda, F., Filoni, C., Bueno, M. G., & de Carvalho, V.
 M. (2015). Isolation of *Escherichia coli* and salmonella spp. from free-ranging wild animals. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, 46(4), 1257–1263. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-838246420140843
- Iroha, I. R., Ugbo, E. C., Ilang, D. C., Oji, A. E., & Ayogu, T. E. (2011). Bacteria contamination of raw meat sold in Abakaliki , Ebonyi State Nigeria. 3(February), 49–53.
- Issaka, B. Y., & Yeboah, R. N. (2016). Socio-economic attributes of guinea fowl production in two districts in Northern Ghana. 11(14), 1209–1217. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR2015.10258

Ivanova, N., Gugleva, V., Dobreva, M., Pehlivanov, I., Stefanov, S., & Andonova, V.



(2016). We are IntechOpen , the world 's leading publisher of Open Access books Built by scientists , for scientists TOP 1 %. *Intech*, *i*(tourism), 13.

- Jafari, A., Aslani, M., Bouzari, S., Jafari, A., Aslani, M., & Bouzari, S. (2012). *Escherichia coli*: a brief review of diarrheagenic pathotypes and their role in diarrheal diseases in Iran . To cite this version: HAL Id: pasteur-00747946. *Iranian Journal of Microbiology*.
- Käferstein, F. (2003). Foodborne diseases in developing countries: Aetiology, epidemiology and strategies for prevention. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 13(SUPPL. 1). https://doi.org/10.1080/0960312031000102949
- Kamboj, S., Gupta, N., Bandral, J. D., & Gandotra, G. (2020). Food safety and hygiene: A review Food safety and hygiene: A review. March. https://doi.org/10.22271/chemi.2020.v8.i2f.8794
- Kanjee, U., & Houry, W. A. (2013). Mechanisms of Acid Resistance in Escherichia coli. May, 65–81. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-092412-155708
- Karpman, E., & Kurzrock, E. A. (2004). ADVERSE REACTIONS OF NITROFURANTOIN , TRIMETHOPRIM AND SULFAMETHOXAZOLE IN CHILDREN. 172(August), 448–453. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ju.0000130653.74548.d6
- Kaur, S. P., Rao, R., & Nanda, S. (2011). Amoxicillin: A broad spectrum antibiotic. *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *3*(3), 30–37.
- Kawasaki, S., Horikoshi, N., Okada, Y., Takeshita, K., Sameshima, T., & Kawamoto,S. (2005). Multiplex PCR for Simultaneous Detection of Salmonella spp.,



Listeria monocytogenes, and Escherichia coli O157: H7 in Meat Samples. 68(3), 551–556.

- Kenney, S. J., Anderson, G. L., Williams, P. L., Millner, P. D., & Beuchat, L. R. (2005). Persistence of Escherichia coli O157: H7, Salmonella Newport, and Salmonella Poona in the gut of a free-living nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans, and transmission to progeny and uninfected nematodes. 101, 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004.11.043
- Khan, M. Y., Roy, M., Rawal, R. K., & Bansal, U. K. (2017). A Review-Ceftriaxone for Life. January. https://doi.org/10.5958/2231-5691.2017.00007.
- Kim, J. H., Hur, S. J., & Yim, D. G. (2018). Monitoring of microbial contaminants of beef, pork, and chicken in HACCP implemented meat processing plants of Korea. *Korean Journal for Food Science of Animal Resources*, 38(2), 282–290. https://doi.org/10.5851/kosfa.2018.38.2.282
- Kolenda, R., Ugorski, M., & Grzymajlo, K. (2019). Everything you always wanted to know about Salmonella type 1 fimbriae, but were afraid to ask. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *10*(MAY), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01017
- Koohmaraie, M., Scanga, J. A., De La Zerda, M. J., Koohmaraie, B., Tapay, L., Beskhlebnaya, V., Mai, T., Greeson, K., & Samadpour, M. (2012). Tracking the sources of salmonella in ground beef produced from nonfed cattle. *Journal of Food Protection*, 75(8), 1464–1468. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-540.
- Kritzberg, E. and Bååth, E. (2022). Seasonal variation in temperature sensitivity of bacterial growth in a temperate soil and lake. *FEMS Microbiol Ecolology*, 98(10).



- Kumar, C. G., & Dubois, R. (2008). Microbial Biosynthesis and Applications of Gentamicin: A Critical Appraisal. 173–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388550802262197
- Lääveri, T., Vilkman, K., Pakkanen, S., Kirveskari, J., & Kantele, A. (2018). Despite antibiotic treatment of travellers' diarrhoea, pathogens are found in stools from half of travellers at return. *Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease*, 23, 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2018.04.003
- Lamas, A., Miranda, J. M., Regal, P., Vázquez, B., Franco, C. M., & Cepeda, A. (2018). A comprehensive review of non- enterica subspecies of *Salmonella enterica*. *Microbiological Research*, 206(May 2017), 60–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2017.09.010
- Lamb, H. M., Ormrod, D., Scott, L. J., Figgitt, D. P., Hospital, B., Naber, K. G., Klinik, U., & Elisabeth, K. S. (2002). *Ceftriaxone: An Update of its Use in the Management of Community-Acquired and Nosocomial Infections*. 62(7), 1041– 1089.
- Lan, Y., Rosen, G., & Hershberg, R. (2016). Marker genes that are less conserved in their sequences are useful for predicting genome-wide similarity levels between closely related prokaryotic strains. *Microbiome*, 4, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0162-5
- Larsson, D. G. J. (2022). Antibiotic resistance in the environment. 20(May), 257–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00649-x
- Lau, O. W., & Wong, S. K. (2000). Contamination in food from packaging material. Journal of Chromatography A, 882(1–2), 255–270.



https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(00)00356-3

- Lee, H., & Yoon, Y. (2021). Etiological Agents Implicated in Foodborne Illness World Wide. 41(1), 1–7.
- Li, J., Paredes-Sabja, D., Sarker, M. R., & McClane, B. A. (2016). Clostridium perfringens Sporulation and Sporulation-Associated Toxin Production .
 Microbiology Spectrum, 4(3), 331–347. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.tbs-0022-2015
- Li, J., Wang, H., Liu, Y., Lin, M., Liu, X., & Hu, X. (2014). Distribution and diversity of coliform bacteria in estuary of Jiahe river, China. *International Journal of Environmental Research*, 8(2), 501–508.
- Li, M., Malladi, S., Hurd, H. S., Goldsmith, T. J., Brichta-Harhay, D. M., & Loneragan, G. H. (2015). Salmonella spp. in lymph nodes of fed and cull cattle: Relative assessment of risk to ground beef. *Food Control*, *50*, 423–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.09.011
- Lijalem, T., Beyan, M., & Banerjee, S. (2015). *Quality of beef*, *chevon and mutton at Hawassa*, 9(5), 301–306. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJFS2015.1265
- Liu, R., Xing, L., Zhou, G., & Zhang, W. (2017). What is meat in China? *Animal Frontiers*, 7(4), 53–56. https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2017.0445
- Livermore, D. M., Mushtaq, S., Warner, M., & Woodford, N. (2013). Comparative in vitro activity of sulfametrole / trimethoprim and sulfamethoxazole / trimethoprim and other agents against multiresistant Gram-negative bacteria. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkt455

Lo, C. (2013). Antibiotics for treating chronic osteomyelitis in adults (Review). 9.



- Loke, Y. K., & Mattishent, K. (2014). Common harms from amoxicillin: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials for any indication. *Cmaj*, *187*(1), 15–16. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.141344
- Lukáčová, A., Golian, J., Massányi, P., & Formicki, G. (2014). Lead concentration in meat and meat products of different origin. *Potravinarstvo*, 8(1), 43–47. https://doi.org/10.5219/334
- MacGowan, G. A., Shapiro, E. P., Azhari, H., Siu, C. O., Hees, P. S., Hutchins, G. M.,
 Weiss, J. L., & Rademakers, F. E. (2016). Antibiotics: Classification and
 mechanisms of action with emphasis on molecular perspectives. *Circulation*,
 96(2), 535–541. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.96.2.535
- Mare, A. D., Ciurea, C. N., Toma, F., Man, A., Tudor, B., & Moldovan, V. (2021). *Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli* — A Summary of the Literature. 28–40.
- Maurer, J. J. (2018). Antibiotics: Mode of Action, Mechanisms of Resistance and Transfer (Issue February 2008). https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470752616.ch6
- Mazel, D. (2006). Integrons: agents of bacterial evolution. 4(August). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1462
- Melander, J. R., Daniel, V. Z., & Melander, C. (2017). Narrow-Spectrum Antibacterial Agents. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7MD00528H
- Mensah-bonsu, A., & Rich, K. M. (2010). *Ghana 's Poultry Sector Value Chains and* the Impacts of HPAI. October.
- Mensah, P., Armar-Klemesu M, A.S, H., A., H., & R, N. (2001). Bacterial contaminants in lettuce, tomatoes, beef and goat meat from the Accra Metropolis.
- Méric, G., Hitchings, M. D., Pascoe, B., & Sheppard, S. K. (2016). From Escherich to



the Escherichia coli genome. The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 16(6), 634–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30066-4

- Meuten, D. J. (2002). Salmonella in Domestic Animals. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 53(7), 925–929.
- Meza-segura, M., & Estrada-garcia, T. (2016). Diffusely Adherent *Escherichia coli*. Springer, 2508, 125–147. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45092-6
- Miravitlles, M., & Anzueto, A. (2017). Chronic Respiratory Infection in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease : What Is the Role of Antibiotics ? 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18071344
- Moawad, A. A., Hotzel, H., Awad, O., Tomaso, H., Neubauer, H., Hafez, H. M., & El-Adawy, H. (2017). Occurrence of *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* in raw chicken and beef meat in northern Egypt and dissemination of their antibiotic resistance markers. *Gut Pathogens*, 9(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13099-017-0206-9
- Mohr, K. I. (2016). History of Antibiotics Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/82
- Moreki, J. C. (2009). Guinea Fowl Production. Reach Publishers, Wandsbeck, South Africa, 3631, 7–31. http://www.gov.bw/Global/MOA/Guinea Fowl Production.pdf
- Moreki, J. C., & Seabo, D. (2012). Guinea fowl production in Botswana. *Journal of World's Poultry Research J. World's Poult. Res*, 2(1), 1–04.
- Moulds, R. F. W., Advisor, M., Jeyasingham, M. S., & Guidelines, T. (2010). Gentamicin : a great way to start. OCTOBER.

Munckhof, W., Physician, I. D., & Microbiologist, C. (2005). Antibiotics for surgical



prophylaxis. 2, 38–40.

Munita, J. M., & Arias, C. A. (2016). *Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance*. 481–511. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0016-2015

Nataro, J. P., & Kaper, J. B. (1998). Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. 11(1), 142–201.

- Naylor, S. W., Gally, D. L., & Low, J. C. (2005). Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli in veterinary medicine. 295, 419–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2005.07.010
- Ndlovu, S. (2015). Names as indigenous knowledge for making meat edible and / or inedible : Implications on food security in Zimbabwe.
- Nelson, M. L., & Levy, S. B. (2011). The history of the tetracyclines. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1241(1), 17–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06354.x
- Nerín, C., Aznar, M., & Carrizo, D. (2016). Food contamination during food process. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 48, 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2015.12.004
- Newell, D. G., Koopmans, M., Verhoef, L., Duizer, E., Aidara-kane, A., Sprong, H., Opsteegh, M., Langelaar, M., Threfall, J., Scheutz, F., Giessen, J. Van Der, & Kruse, H. (2010). International Journal of Food Microbiology Food-borne diseases The challenges of 20 years ago still persist while new ones continue to emerge. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *139*, S3–S15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.01.021
- Nichols, M., Gollarza, L., Sockett, D., Aulik, N., Patton, E., Francois Watkins, L. K., Gambino-Shirley, K. J., Folster, J. P., Chen, J. C., & Tagg, K. A. (2022). Outbreak of multidrug-resistant Salmonella Heidelberg infections linked to dairy



calf exposure, United States, 2015–2018. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 19(3), 199–208.

- Nicolaou, K. C., & Rigol, S. (2017). A brief history of antibiotics and select advances in their synthesis. *Nature Publishing Group*, *March*, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2017.62
- Nikaido, H. (2009). Multidrug Resistance in Bacteria. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.78.082907.145923
- Niyoyitungiye, L., Giri, A., & Ndayisenga, M. (2020). Assessment of Coliforms Bacteria Contamination in Lake Tanganyika as Bioindicators of Recreational and Drinking Water Quality. *South Asian Journal of Research in Microbiology, June*, 9–16. https://doi.org/10.9734/sajrm/2020/v6i330150
- Odeyemi, O. A. (2016). Public health implications of microbial food safety and foodborne diseases in developing countries. *Food and Nutrition Research*, *60*(1), 20–22. https://doi.org/10.3402/fnr.v60.29819
- Ohene-Adjei, S., & Bediako, N. A. (2017). What is meat in Ghana? *Animal Frontiers*, 7(4), 60–62. https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2017.0447
- Olafson, P. U., Brown, T. R., Lohmeyer, K. H., Harvey, R. B., Nisbet, D. J., Loneragan, G. H., & Edrington, T. S. (2016). Assessing transmission of Salmonella to bovine peripheral lymph nodes upon horn fly feeding. *Journal of Food Protection*, 79(7), 1135–1142. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-15-414
- Ong, D. S. Y., Kuyvenhoven, M. M., Van dijk, L., & Verheij, T. J. M. (2008). Antibiotics for respiratory, ear and urinary tract disorders and consistency among



GPs. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 62(3), 587–592. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkn230

- Örsi, T. (2015). Cow versus Beef: Terms Denoting Animals and Their Meat in English. 49–58.
- Osei Sekyere, J. (2014). Antibiotic Types and Handling Practices in Disease Management among Pig Farms in Ashanti Region, Ghana. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine*, 2014, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/531952
- Pagès, J. M., James, C. E., & Winterhalter, M. (2008). The porin and the permeating antibiotic: A selective diffusion barrier in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 6(12), 893–903. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1994
- Parnham, M. J., Erakovic, V., Giamarellos-bourboulis, E. J., Perletti, G., Verleden, G. M., & Vos, R. (2014). Azithromycin: Mechanisms of action and their relevance for clinical applications. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 143(2), 225–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.03.003
- Parr, L. W. (1939). Coliform bacteria.
- Pasmooij, A. M. G. (2018). Topical Gentamicin for the Treatment of Genetic Skin Diseases. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 138(4), 731–734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2017.12.008
- Poirel, L., Pitout, J. D., & Nordmann, P. (2007). Carbapenemases: Molecular diversity and clinical consequences. *Future Microbiology*, 2(5), 501–512. https://doi.org/10.2217/17460913.2.5.501
- Poole, K. (2005). *Efflux-mediated antimicrobial resistance* (Issue May). https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dki171



- Prasad, K. P. (2017). Role of Plasmids in Microbiology Role of Plasmids in Microbiology. January. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-9546.1000466
- Randall, L. P., Cooles, S. W., Osborn, M. K., Piddock, L. J. V., & Woodward, M. J. (2004). Antibiotic resistance genes, integrons and multiple antibiotic resistance in thirty-five serotypes of *Salmonella enterica* isolated from humans and animals in the UK. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, *53*(2), 208–216. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkh070
- Rani, Z. T., & Mhlongo, L. C. (2023). *Microbial Profiles of Meat at Different Stages* of the Distribution Chain from the Abattoir to Retail Outlets. 1–12.
- Riemann, H. P., & Cliver, D. O. (2006). Foodborne Infections and Intoxications, Third Edition (Food Science and Technology).
- Roberts, H., Jager, L. De, & Blight, G. (2009). Waste-handling practices at red meat abattoirs in South Africa. January 2007, 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X07085754

Roberts, M. C. (2003). Tetracycline Therapy : Update. 7238, 462-467.

- Ruiz-perez, F., Wahid, R., Faherty, C. S., Kolappaswamy, K., & Rodriguez, L. (2011). Serine protease autotransporters from Shigella fl exneri and pathogenic Escherichia coli target a broad range of leukocyte glycoproteins. 108(31). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1101006108
- Russom, M., Bahta, M., Debesai, M., Bahta, I., Kessete, A., Afendi, A., Fitsum, Y., Nambozi, J., Kidane, S. N., & Tesfamariam, E. H. (2021). *Knowledge*, attitude and practice of antibiotics and their determinants in Eritrea: an urban population- based survey. 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046432



- Saadeh, S. A., & Mattoo, T. K. (2011). Managing urinary tract infections. *Pediatric Nephrology*, 26(11), 1967–1976. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00467-011-1801-5
- Schroeder, G. N., & Hilbi, H. (2008). Molecular Pathogenesis of Shigella spp .: Controlling Host Cell Signaling, Invasion, and Death by Type III Secretion. 21(1), 134–156. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00032-07
- Schwarz, S., Kehrenberg, C., Doublet, B., & Cloeckaert, A. (2004). Molecular basis of bacterial resistance to chloramphenicol and florfenicol. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 28(5), 519–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsre.2004.04.001
- Scollan, N., Nuernberg, K., Dannenberger, D., Richardson, I., & Moloney, A. (2006). MEAT Innovations in beef production systems that enhance the nutritional and health value of beef lipids and their relationship with meat quality. 74, 17–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2006.05.002
- Sekyere, J. O., & Adu, F. (2015). Current State Of Pig Farms And Factors Influencing Their Commercialisation In Ghana: A Case Study Of The Ashanti Region. *Cibtech Journal of Zoology*, 4(January 2016), 88–97.
- Sengupta, S., Chattopadhyay, M. K., & Grossart, H. (2013). The multifaceted roles of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in nature. 4(March), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00047

Servin, A. L., & Servin, A. L. (2014). Pathogenesis of Human Diffusely Adhering Escherichia coli Expressing Afa / Dr Adhesins (Afa / Dr DAEC): Current Insights and Future Challenges Pathogenesis of Human Diffusely Adhering Escherichia coli Expressing Afa / Dr Adhesins (Afa / Dr DAEC): Curr. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00036-14



- SHALTOUT, F. A. (2000). PROTOZOAL FOODBORNE PATHOGENS IN SOME MEAT PRODUCTS.
- Sharma, P. C., Jain, A., Jain, S., Pahwa, R., & Yar, M. S. (2010). Ciprofloxacin: Review on developments in synthetic, analytical, and medicinal aspects. *Journal* of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry, 25(4), 577–589. https://doi.org/10.3109/14756360903373350
- Shulman, S. T., Friedmann, H. C., & Sims, R. H. (2007). Theodor Escherich: The First Pediatric Infectious Diseases Physician? 45, 1025–1029. https://doi.org/10.1086/521946
- Silva, C., Calva, E., & Maloy, S. (2014). One Health and Food-Borne Disease: Salmonella Transmission between Humans, Animals, and Plants . *Microbiology Spectrum*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.oh-0020-2013
- Singh, S. B., Young, K., & Silver, L. L. (2017). What is an "ideal " antibiotic? Discovery challenges and path forward. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 133, 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2017.01.003
- Singh, V. (2013). Salmonella Serovars and Their Host Specificity. 1(3), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.15744/2348-9790.1.301

Siriken, B. (2013). Salmonella Pathogenicity Islands. 47(1), 181–188.

- Smith, C. L., & Smith, C. L. (2012). B etween the S pecies The Chicken Challenge: What Contemporary Studies of Fowl Mean for Science and Ethics. 15(1), 75– 102.
- Smith, J. L., & Fratamico, P. M. (2021). Escherichia coli as a Global Pathogen.FoodborneDiseases:ThirdEdition,3(1),189–103.



https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385007-2.00007-3

- Song, J., Gao, X., & Galán, J. E. (2013). Structure and function of the Salmonella Typhi chimaeric A 2 B 5 typhoid toxin. *Nature*, 499(7458), 350–354. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12377
- Stadler, T., Meinel, D., Aguilar-Bultet, L., Huisman, J. S., Schindler, R., Egli, A., Seth-Smith, H. M. B., Eichenberger, L., Brodmann, P., Hübner, P., Bagutti, C., & Tschudin-Sutter, S. (2018). Transmission of ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae and their mobile genetic elements Identification of sources by whole genome sequencing: Study protocol for an observational study in Switzerland. *BMJ Open*, 8(2), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021823
- Stein, C., Ellis, A., & Jones, T. (2010). Detection, investigation and control of outbreaks of foodborne disease. In *Tracing Pathogens in the Food Chain*. Woodhead Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857090508.1.47
- Su, L., & Chiu, C. (2006). Salmonella: Clinical Importance and Evolution of Nomenclature. 210–219.
- Tacconelli, E., Carrara, E., Savoldi, A., Harbarth, S., Mendelson, M., Monnet, D. L., & Pulcini, C. (2017). Articles Discovery, research, and development of new antibiotics: the WHO priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis. 3099(17), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30753-3
- Taj, M. K., Samreen, Z., Sciences, H., Ling, J. X., & Hassani, I. T. (2014). Escherichia coli as a model organism. April.
- Tam, V. H., Kabbara, S., Vo, G., Schilling, A. N., & Coyle, E. A. (2006). Comparative Pharmacodynamics of Gentamicin against Staphylococcus aureus



and Pseudomonas aeruginosa †. 50(8), 2626–2631. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01165-05

- Taylor, P., Clements, A., Young, J. C., Constantinou, N., Frankel, G., Clements, A., Young, J. C., Constantinou, N., & Frankel, G. (2012). Infection strategies of enteric pathogenic *Escherichia coli* © 2012 Landes Bioscience . *Gut Microbes*, *March 2015*, 37–41. https://doi.org/10.4161/gmic.19182
- Taylor, P., Nulsen, M. F., Mor, M. B., & Lawton, D. E. B. (2008). Antibiotic resistance among indicator bacteria isolated from healthy pigs in New Zealand. April 2013, 37–41.
- Taylor, P., Welinder-olsson, C., & Kaijser, B. (2015). Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC). July. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365540510038523
- TEYE and ADAM. (2000). Constraints To Guinea Fowl Production in Northern Ghana.
- TI, T. M. Ti. (2008). MEAT QUALITY OF RAW AND PROCESSED GUINEA FOWL (NUMIDA MELEAGRIS). December.
- Tindall, B. J., Grimont, P. A. D., Garrity, G. M., & Euze, J. P. (2005). Taxonomic Note Nomenclature and taxonomy of the genus Salmonella. 521–524. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.63580-0
- Todd, E. C. D. (2014). Foodborne Diseases: Overview of Biological Hazards and Foodborne Diseases. In *Encyclopedia of Food Safety* (Vol. 1). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-378612-8.00071-8

Union, A., & Africaine, U. (2020). Santé et de la Production Animales en Afrique.



68(2).

- Unit, S., Services, M., & Bacteriology, P. H. E. (2013). UK Standards for Microbiology Investigations.
- Uzzau, S., Brown, D. J., Wallis, T., Rubino, S., Leori, G., Bernard, S., Casadesus, J., Platt, D. J., & Olsen, J. E. (2000). *Host adapted serotypes of Salmonella enterica*. 229–255.
- Valsta, L. M., Tapanainen, H., & Männistö, S. (2005). Meat fats in nutrition. *Meat Science*, 70(3 SPEC. ISS.), 525–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2004.12.016
- Van Asten, A. J. A. M., & Van Dijk, J. E. (2005). Distribution of "classic" virulence factors among Salmonella spp. *FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology*, 44(3), 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsim.2005.02.002
- Van Den Bogaard, A. E., & Stobberingh, E. E. (2000). Epidemiology of resistance to antibiotics: Links between animals and humans. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 14(4), 327–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-8579(00)00145-X
- Velebit, B., Radin, D., & Teodorovic, V. (2015). Transmission of common foodborne viruses by meat products. *Italian Oral Surgery*, 5, 304–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profoo.2015.09.069
- Vidyavathi, M., & Srividya, G. (2018). *A REVIEW ON CIPROFLOXACIN : DOSAGE* FORM PERSPECTIVE. 10(4), 4–8.
- Vullo, D., & Supuran, C. T. (2013). Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors . Synthesis of heterocyclic 4-substituted pyridine-3-sulfonamide derivatives and their inhibition



of the human cytosolic isozymes I and II and transmembrane tumor-associated isozymes IX and XII. 69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2013.09.027

Wallace., A. H., Wang, H., Jacobson, A., & Hammack, T. (2020). Bacteriological Analytical Manual (BAM) Chapter 5 : Salmonella. 1(August 2012), 1–25.

Walsh, C. (2003). Where will new antibiotics come from? 1(October), 5–10.

- Warriss, P. D. (2000). Meat science: an introductory text. Meat Science: An Introductory Text. https://doi.org/10.1079/9780851994246.0000
- Wein, T., & Dagan, T. (2020). ll Plasmid evolution. *Current Biology*, *30*(19), R1158– R1163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.07.003
- Weldam, E., Timothy, N., Obukowho, B., & Adu, D. (2015). Consumer Preference For Swine Offals and Its Health Implications in Kumasi, Ghana. *Animal Research International*, 12, 2305–2310.
- Wepking, C., Knowlton, K. F., Ray, P. P., & Shawver, S. E. (2019). Prolonged exposure to manure from livestock-administered antibiotics decreases ecosystem carbon-use efficiency and alters nitrogen cycling. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13390
- Wilson, D. N. (2014). Ribosome-targeting antibiotics and mechanisms of bacterial resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 12(1), 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3155
- Xu, H., & Li, H. (2019). Acne, the Skin Microbiome, and Antibiotic Treatment.
 American Journal of Clinical Dermatology, 20(3), 335–344.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40257-018-00417-3

Yafetto, L., Adator, E. H., Ebuako, A. A., Ekloh, E., & Afeti, F. Y. (2019). Microbial


Quality of Raw Beef and Chevon From Selected Markets in Cape Coast, Ghana. Journal of Biology and Life Science, 10(1), 78. https://doi.org/10.5296/jbls.v10i1.14022

- Yang, S. C., Lin, C. H., Aljuffali, I. A., & Fang, J. Y. (2017). Current pathogenic *Escherichia coli* foodborne outbreak cases and therapy development. *Archives of Microbiology*, 199(6), 811–825. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-017-1393-y
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, H., Guo, T., Jia, J., Zhang, P., & Wang, L. (2022). Comparison of Nutrition and Flavor Characteristics of Five Breeds of Pork in China. 1–21.
- Zhao, H., Sun, R., Yu, P., & Alvarez, P. J. J. (2020). High levels of antibiotic resistance genes and opportunistic pathogenic bacteria indicators in urban wild bird feces *. *Environmental Pollution*, 266, 115200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115200
- Zweifel, C., Baltzer, D., & Stephan, R. (2005). Microbiological contamination of cattle and pig carcasses at five abattoirs determined by swab sampling in accordance with EU Decision 2001/471/EC. *Meat Science*, 69(3), 559–566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2004.10.007

